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Chair Bustamante Adams: 
[Roll was called and protocol was explained.]  We are going to take the bills out of order 
because one of our colleagues is presenting a bill in another committee.  We have two of 
Senator Kieckhefer's bills, and we will start with the easier one, Senate Bill 354 (1st Reprint).  
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Senate Bill 354 (1st Reprint):  Authorizes the issuance of a license by endorsement to 

practice certain professions in this State. (BDR 54-870) 
 
Senator Ben Kieckhefer, Senate District No. 16: 
Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am glad that at least one of my bills is easy.  I want to take the 
opportunity to thank you very much for letting me present today. 
 
This bill, Senate Bill 354 (1st Reprint), offers presumptive reciprocity to other states' 
professional licensees.  The strengths and weaknesses of professional and occupational 
licensing have become the subject of substantial debate around the country in recent years.  
There has been a hefty amount of research on the impact professional licensing has on 
workers, businesses, and the economy, and the result has been broad consensus that it is time 
to reform professional licensing structures across the country. 
 
In July 2015, President Obama's administration published a document entitled "Occupational 
Licensing:  A Framework for Policymakers."  That document is uploaded onto the Nevada 
Electronic Legislative Information System (NELIS).  [The document was included as an 
exhibit for the March 27, 2017 hearing of Senate Bill 354 by the Senate Committee on 
Commerce, Labor and Energy.]  That review of existing literature highlights the history of 
professional licensing and demonstrates the need for reform.  In the 1950s, merely 5 percent 
of all jobs in the United States required a license; that number has now jumped to more than 
25 percent nationally.  Despite some changes in the workforce—including a shift to 
service-based economies—two-thirds of the increase is actually due to a rise in the number of 
professions that require a license, which previously did not. 
 
The impact on the workforce is stark.  Research shows that licensing reduces 
total employment in the licensed professions and pushes unlicensed people into 
lower-wage positions.  On average, workers in unlicensed professions earn 10 to 15 percent 
less than workers with licenses, despite similar levels of education, training, and experience.  
Barriers to licensure such as cost and time—coupled with increased wages in licensed 
professions—lead to enhanced wage inequality for low-income workers.  Professional 
licensing also has a direct effect on the cost of goods and services to consumers.  Research 
has shown that licensing leads to a direct increase in prices of between 3 and 16 percent 
without any demonstrable increase in quality.  That diffusion of cost within occupational 
licensing, coupled with the concentrated benefit to those who are licensed, has helped spur 
more and more licensing over the decades. 
 
Nevada is generally regarded as one of the most overly licensed states in the nation.  We are 
one of only three states that require licenses of more than 30 percent of our workers.  
Not only do we require a license for a higher percentage of workers, but we also expect much 
more out of them in order to be licensed.  Of the 102 lower- and middle-skilled occupations 
reviewed by the Institute for Justice, Nevada requires an average of 601 days of combined  
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education and training.  That ranked us fourth-highest in the nation.  Nevada requires 
a license for 55 different occupations, and that is more than all but five other states.  We also 
have some of the highest licensing fees of any state.  As an example, to become an alarm 
installer in Nevada, it requires $1,036 in fees; the national average is $230. 
 
All of this background brings me to this:  Professional licensing is a significant barrier for 
people looking to start a new business in Nevada and others looking to move to Nevada from 
another state.  Our regional development agencies specifically discussed the challenges of 
relocating people to Nevada as a component of their economic development efforts.  When 
people relocate to Nevada for jobs, their spouses or partners are often licensed by another 
state but struggle to become so in Nevada.  Additionally, professional licensing is 
a significant barrier to low-income entrepreneurship.  There is a direct correlation between 
the prevalence of low-income entrepreneurship and the percentage of low-income 
professions that require a license by the state.  Not surprisingly, Nevada has the 
seventh-highest rate of licensure requirements for low-income entrepreneurs in the country, 
at almost 55 percent. 
 
Many of the studies I have referenced—including the White House report—have 
demonstrated the negative impact professional licensing has on interstate migration, creating 
an inefficient labor force.  While this bill is not an overhaul of our entire professional 
licensing process, this bill attempts to address one problem created by Nevada's heavy 
reliance on professional licensing, and that is to open our state to people who are licensed in 
other states when they relocate here. 
 
Section 1 of S.B. 354 (R1) creates a standardized process for most people who would 
be licensed through Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Title 54 to apply for and receive 
a license by endorsement, if that individual is licensed by another state, territory, or the 
District of Columbia.  To obtain a license by endorsement, an applicant must submit an 
application to the appropriate regulatory board, pay the appropriate fee, and submit 
fingerprints for a background check.  The bill provides standard timelines, and the board 
must provide written notice not later than 15 business days after receiving an application for 
a license by endorsement, notifying the applicant of any additional information required. 
 
At any time before making a final decision on an application, the board may request from the 
applicant or the licensing board of another state any additional information when 
investigating that application as well.  Importantly, if the applicant or the spouse is an active 
member of the armed forces of the United States, a veteran, or the surviving spouse of 
a veteran, and he or she receives a license by endorsement, he or she is entitled 
to a 50 percent reduction in the fee for the initial issuance of a license.  That is consistent 
with existing law.  Following section 1, the remainder of the bill repeals provisions allowing 
licensure certification by endorsement or reciprocity if such provisions are either duplicative 
or more stringent than what is in the bill.  
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I indicated that the bill relates to most occupations that are licensed under NRS Title 54.  
Several occupations are specifically exempted, however, and they include Chapter 624 
relating to contractors, Chapter 630 for physicians, Chapter 631 for dentistry, Chapter 632 on 
nursing, Chapter 633 on osteopathic medicine, Chapter 641C on alcohol, drug, and gambling 
counselors, Chapters 645 through 645H, which all relate to real estate professions, 
and Chapter 649 for collection agencies. 
 
In closing, this bill is designed to give entrepreneurs from out of state the ability to relocate 
to Nevada.  It is designed to support our ongoing economic development efforts that recruit 
highly skilled professionals to our state by making it easier for families, and it is designed to 
create efficiencies within our labor market.  Overall, Madam Chair, I think this bill will make 
Nevada a better state for starting a business and recruiting employees, and it will provide 
people moving to our state with greater opportunities to succeed once they are here.  
I appreciate your taking the time to hear me, and I am happy to answer any questions you 
may have. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Can you go over the exempted chapters again and explain them a little more slowly? 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
Nevada Revised Statutes Title 54 begins with Chapter 622.  Senate Bill 354 (1st Reprint) 
excludes:  Chapter 624 for contractors; Chapter 630 for physicians, physician assistants, 
medical assistants, perfusionists, and practitioners of respiratory care; Chapter 631 for 
dentistry and dental hygiene; Chapter 632 on nursing; Chapter 633 for osteopathic medicine; 
Chapter 641C, which is alcohol, drug, and gambling counselors; Chapter 645 through 645H 
inclusive, which all have to do with real estate; and finally, Chapter 649 for collection 
agencies. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Thank you, that was very helpful.  Section 1 is where the bulk of the proposal is, so we will 
start with that.  Are there any questions from the Committee? 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
Why did you exclude these professions and not others? 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
It was sort of a mixed bag in terms of deciding whom and why.  Ultimately, I made these 
choices individually.  For example, I feel that contractors are a well-regulated industry within 
the state, and I have not had a lot of complaints about licensing barriers from contractors.  
Nursing, for example, was included in the original draft of the bill, but I excluded them 
per a request during the adoption of the first amendment to the bill.  The same is true for the 
alcohol, drug, and gambling counselors.  Ultimately, I excluded everyone who asked me to 
be excluded. 
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Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I understand endorsement, and I have always been a proponent of credentialing.  That is what 
we did back in the early 2000s—we credentialed.  If an individual did a good job in his or her 
home state and had no problems for five years, that individual could bring their 
documentation to Nevada where we would evaluate it and allow them to become 
credentialed.  In some places, I guess that would be considered licensure by endorsement.  
In this bill though, you said reciprocity—but I do not really see reciprocity, so I am trying to 
understand if it is more of a credentialing system. 
 
The point I am trying to make is that I want our boards to have an opportunity to say no to 
bad actors—that is what I need to see in here—in case we find out there was Medicaid fraud, 
sexual abuse, domestic violence, or a number of other things that come up.  The bad actors 
will run to the states that have the least amount of oversight.  They will know where to go.  
These particular boards must have an opportunity to say no to somebody.  I do not want them 
to say that they had to give them a license in this state because they did not have a choice. 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
There is still opportunity for the board to investigate the applicant.  I am looking for the 
language.  I have to go in and dig it out, and I apologize for not having it off the top of my 
head, but it still exists within that process.  Through their investigatory powers, a board is 
able to deny a license. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
That is fine, as long as timelines do not automatically mean that someone becomes 
licensed—because I know you have some timelines in here.  I would hate to see someone 
get licensure by default.  We have due process in this state, which is fair.  We just had a bill 
from the Office of the Attorney General last week that talked about yanking someone's ticket, 
and I believe part of the problem was a reciprocity agreement where we lost the ability to 
pull the ticket.  I just want to make sure we do not create that problem twice. 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
I certainly agree with all of that.  Part of what I was trying to capture was allowing people to 
practice in their professions in our state, where our licenses can oftentimes be significantly 
more restrictive than other states.  The purpose of this bill was to offer people relocating to 
Nevada, with our continued inward migration, the ability to continue their profession without 
significant disruption.  It is certainly not the intent of the bill, by any stretch, to undermine 
the ability of the board to enforce the laws of this state in terms of professional conduct. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
We have had this discussion before and went through it vehemently.  If I could have 
one wish, I would wish for some national licensure so we would not have to go through this 
state by state anymore.  We have not quite gotten there yet, but we will eventually, I am sure. 
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Assemblyman Brooks: 
Section 3, subsection 1 seems to be a bit different from the rest of the sections.  This section 
allows for the issuance of a professional engineering license in Nevada.  The language in this 
section eliminates the phrase ". . . state, territory, [or] possession of the United States . . . ."  
This section talked about coming from any other state in the United States or its territories, 
and now it just says any other country.  What was the motivation for that? 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
This was the subject of some review by the State Board of Professional Engineers and 
Land Surveyors.  I had talks with them about that.  They originally had concerns about 
section 3, and then expressed an ability to capture this issue through the regulatory process.  
The time frames for implementation in the bill provided a window for the Board to maintain 
their existing requirements.  I am going to have to circle back and answer that question for 
you in a follow-up, Assemblyman Brooks. 
 
Assemblywoman Tolles: 
Thank you for bringing this bill forward.  I believe I have heard some of the same concerns 
that you have over the years.  I have also watched relatives move to other states and be 
frustrated with the lack of reciprocity, so I think this is a great bill. 
 
I have a question about subsection 2 of section 12, which appears to be struck out.  
The language in the original bill read, "If an applicant submits an application for a license by 
endorsement pursuant to NRS 636.207, the Board shall collect not more than one half of 
the fee . . . ."  By striking that out, do they now have to pay the entire fee? 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
I believe that language is replaced by the language included in subsection 7 of section 1 of 
the bill.  Because it is captured by language in section 1, it is struck out in the other sections 
of statute. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I think if a person is an active member or the spouse of an active member of the armed 
forces, they will pay a 50 percent reduction in the fee for the initial issuance.  Is that correct? 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
That is correct. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Does that answer your question, Assemblywoman Tolles? 
 
Assemblywoman Tolles: 
I would like to confirm my understanding.  I do see that we are applying the discount for 
a veteran or a surviving spouse of a veteran.  Maybe I am just not reading this correctly, 
but does section 12, under NRS 636.143, apply to veterans, or does it apply to all license 
applicants?  I still read that we have eliminated any discount in this section—which is fine.  
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Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Senator Kieckhefer, I will have our legal counsel clarify. 
 
Wil Keane, Committee Counsel: 
The reason section 12, subsection 2 was deleted is because NRS 636.207 was repealed.  That 
section used to provide for license by endorsement for members of the military, 
but that section was repealed because it is being entirely replaced by section 1 of the 
bill.  Section 12, subsection 2 needed to be deleted because it was no longer referring to 
anything.  Senator Kieckhefer is correct; the substance is entirely captured within section 1, 
subsection 7 of the bill. 
 
Assemblywoman Tolles: 
Thank you for clarifying that, and thank you again for bringing this bill, as it is a great bill. 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
I would not do anything to increase the price for our veterans. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I know this is not going to be popular, Senator Kieckhefer, but I want to talk about that issue.  
Boards are self-supporting, and everybody pays their fair share.  When you give somebody 
a break, that means somebody else is going to have to pick up the cost.  I have concerns that 
we are going to ask the other licensees to pick up that cost, because the Board only asks for 
the cost of processing the license.  It is not as if these boards make a profit.  Some of them do 
have reserves that I find to be quite concerning, but that is another issue we will need to 
address in the future—how much we allow boards to hold in reserve.  If boards have the 
reserves and can absorb the discounts, I think it is fair, but if it means they have to turn 
around and charge their other licensees more in the future to make up that cost, I have 
concerns.  Yes, we do want professionals here, and yes, it would be great if we could give 
them a break, but it is not on our dime; it is a break on somebody else's dime.  That is my 
concern. 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
Thank you, I appreciate that.  The striking of the language and its replacement in section 1 of 
the bill was designed to retain consistency with what we already have in statute; it is not 
a new exemption.  It is not a new discount.  As you said, Assemblywoman Carlton, I did 
not want to increase the fees and costs for military spouses, surviving spouses, or veterans by 
50 percent, because that is not a popular opinion. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
My understanding is that does not just apply to that one small section now; it will apply to all 
of the other boards as well.  As I see it, you expanded the language so it will apply to any 
board and not just these boards. 
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Senator Kieckhefer: 
I believe that that discount was put in place across the regulatory structure in 2015.  
The language in this section was designed to be consistent with what was already in statute 
and not an expansion onto other regulatory boards. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
Would it apply to the boards that you exempted from the bill, or would the discounting 
provision apply to those boards and just not the endorsement or credentialing provision?  
I guess that is where I am confused. 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
The discount should still apply and be retained through other portions of statute, but the 
endorsement provision would only apply to the boards included in the bill.  From a fee basis, 
everyone would be treated equally across NRS Title 54, but from the endorsement 
perspective, those that would be excluded are excluded. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
That is my concern.  I believe it is unfair to other licensees to have to pick up a burden that, 
in essence, is for a person who is coming into the state to compete with them, and now they 
are going to pick up the cost of that licensure. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
My first question is about the repealed section of NRS 654.180, which addresses the 
reciprocal licensing without examination for a nursing facility administrator.  I am trying to 
understand what that means, now that you repealed this section about this particular 
provision for long-term care facilities. 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
To which section are you referring? 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
I am referring to NRS 654.180.  It is on the back page of the bill. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Assemblywoman Neal, what page is that? 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
It is page 28. 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
It is the final line of the bill.  I believe—and I will have to circle back to you—the repealed 
sections were repealed because they were either duplicative or more stringent than the license 
by endorsement provisions that are being created in section 1 of the bill.  If NRS 654.180 
offered this structure of reciprocal licensing without examination, it would be unnecessary to 
retain in statute due to the new provisions of section 1 of the bill before you.  
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Assemblywoman Neal: 
I believe you were already asked how you selected who was "in" and who was "out," but did 
you make your choice based on a high or low need for licensees in those areas to make it 
easier to walk through the door? 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
I based who was "in" and who was "out" on a variety of factors.  Some decisions were 
judgment calls I made when I requested the bill.  Some decisions were based on fights I did 
not think I would be able to stomach or win through this process, and some were made 
because people came in and asked me really nicely.  To say that there was a ton of rhyme or 
reason might be overstating it, but the people who asked nicely made good cases. 
 
I think there are certain professions where we are more likely to see instances of significant 
harm—with medical doctors (MD), doctors of osteopathy (DO), contractors, and dentists, 
for example.  That is consistent with the rationale behind professional licensing anyway, 
which is exposure of the public to significant harm.  Based on those licensees' direct 
interactions with individuals, I personally selected those as licenses that would be exempted 
from this bill.  Similarly, I exempted all of the real estate provisions due to the amount of 
financial exposure our citizens and our constituents have based on things like home 
purchases.  I exempted collections agencies because of the amount of interaction they have 
with people on a financial basis.  The Board of Examiners for Alcohol, Drug and Gambling 
Counselors came and asked to be excluded based on some of the significant differences in 
licensure between Nevada and states like California.  With what we are trying to accomplish 
with gambling addiction in Nevada—as well as our opioid problems—I thought it 
was a reasonable request.  There is logic behind all of my decisions, but to say that there was 
one specific set of criteria would be a misstatement on my part. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Are there any other questions from the Committee?  [There were none.]  I will open 
testimony in support of S.B. 354 (R1).  [There was none.]  Is there anyone in opposition to 
S.B. 354 (R1)?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone who is neutral on the measure?  [There 
was no one.]  I wrote down two outstanding questions that we still need to look into, but at 
this time, I will close the hearing on S.B. 354 (R1). 
 
Senator Hammond, we are going to take your bill first because I know Sentor Kieckhefer's 
other bill will have much more participation, and I want to allow enough time for the others 
to participate.  With that, I will open the hearing on Senate Bill 406 (1st Reprint).  
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Senate Bill 406 (1st Reprint):  Revises provisions relating to court reporters and court 

reporting firms. (BDR 54-949) 
 
Senator Scott Hammond, Senate District No. 18: 
I am here to present Senate Bill 406 (1st Reprint).  This bill was brought to me from the 
Nevada Court Reporters Association and the Certified Court Reporters' Board of Nevada.  
I will walk you through the bill, and then I have two other people down south who will go 
into the particulars for the Committee. 
 
Section 2 of the bill authorizes a natural person to obtain a temporary certificate of 
registration from the Certified Court Reporters' Board of Nevada to engage in court reporting 
on a temporary basis if there is an acknowledged shortage, or the applicant is an active 
member of the United States military or the spouse of an active member and meets certain 
requirements.  Section 19 of this bill sets the fee for the issuance and renewal of a temporary 
certificate of registration at $100. 
 
Sections 10 and 15 prohibit the use of any identifying term by a natural person or 
business entity that may indicate to the public that the natural person or business entity 
is entitled to practice as a court reporter or conduct business as a court reporting firm.  
Sections 12 through 14 revise qualifications for a certificate of registration.  These revisions 
include:  requiring an applicant to receive a passing grade on one of two enumerated national 
examinations; revising the requirements for admission to the examination administered by 
the Board; and revising the qualifications of an applicant. 
 
Section 29 authorizes the Board to impose administrative fines against, issue citations to, and 
issue and serve orders to cease and desist on natural persons and business entities that engage 
in such licensed practices or conduct.  Furthermore, the Board, after notice and hearing, 
may impose upon a natural person or business entity who violates any law or regulation 
governing certified court reporters and court reporting firms an administrative fine of not 
more than $5,000 for each violation for which the administrative fine is imposed as provided 
in section 35. 
 
That concludes my remarks.  I appreciate your support of S.B. 406 (R1), and I ask that we 
turn it over to Ms. Judd down south, unless the Committee has any questions for me. 
 
Lori Judd, representing Certified Court Reporters' Board of Nevada: 
I would like to start by giving you a little background on my professional experience.  I have 
been a court reporter for 35 years.  I was appointed by the Governor and have served on the 
Certified Court Reporters' Board of Nevada for approximately nine years.  I have worked 
in every court system in Nevada, including justice court, district court, workers' 
compensation court, and I have worked in federal court.  I have reported Congressional 
hearings.  I have worked in both Reno and in Las Vegas.  I have owned a court reporting 
firm.  I have performed work for the deaf and hearing-impaired.  I provide captioning 
services, including captioning shows on the Las Vegas Strip.  I was part of a Nevada 
Supreme Court task force that developed the fast-track appeal process that is in place today, 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5471/Overview/


Assembly Committee on Commerce and Labor 
May 1, 2017 
Page 12 
 
and we started a court reporters' pro bono project in partnership with the Legal Aid Center of 
Southern Nevada.  I have also traveled, at my own expense, to many other countries, 
promoting court reporting and captioning, and soliciting funding for education and 
certification.  I have been around the world on behalf of court reporting and court reporters. 
 
Our bill was heard first in the Senate Committee on Commerce, Labor and Energy.  
An amendment was requested in the Senate, and an amendment was made that addressed 
some concerns of the court reporting industry.  Our bill has been approximately five years in 
the making.  As a board, we have held 13 open meetings since 2012 on topics that are 
covered in this bill.  There were minutes taken at every meeting.  We have recorded all of the 
public comments, and all those comments were taken into consideration in the formation of 
the language of this bill. 
 
For many years, many Nevada licensees maintained their Nevada certification but lived in 
other locations.  For many, their dream was to move to Nevada upon retirement or to be able 
to practice court reporting here.  Many of these licensees dropped their Nevada certification 
when our economy crashed.  We would like to recapture some of those former Nevada 
certified court reporters as well as capture some new ones. 
 
With this bill, we are attempting to adopt a national testing method used by an organization 
known as the National Court Reporters Association (NCRA), which has been administering 
a national exam for approximately 40 years.  At the same time licensees were decreasing in 
Nevada, the NCRA was developing online testing methods.  Our bill seeks to offer present 
and future licensees an opportunity to take the national exam.  Upon passing the national 
exam, they could come to Nevada, take a written exam here, and then become certified here 
in Nevada.  We want to do this because, right now, the cost to administer the skills portion of 
our exam is exceeding what future licensees pay to take that exam.  We would like them to 
be able to take the national certification exam in their own state and then move to Nevada. 
 
I want to address one other thing, and that is S.B. 354 (R1), which was heard today in this 
Committee just prior to our bill.  I do not know why our section of the statute was not 
mentioned in any part of that bill, because if you look at Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 
Title 54, certified court reports are mentioned in Chapter 656.  I reviewed the verbiage in 
S.B. 354 (R1), and it does not mention certified court reporters at all.  I do not believe that 
the previous bill applies to our profession, but S.B. 406 (R1) would apply in a similar 
fashion, as we are also attempting to make licensure easier to obtain in Nevada. 
 
Unlike S.B. 354 (R1), we do not really want to offer blanket reciprocity because many other 
states offer exams that are very different from what we have been doing in Nevada.  
The national exam, however, is a very well-vetted examination.  It is highly respected 
throughout the nation, and that is what we would like to adopt in lieu of what we are doing 
right now in an effort to increase the number of people who will move to Nevada.  Adopting 
the national examination will improve licensees' chances and make it easier for them to be 
certified and licensed in Nevada.  If there are any questions, I will be happy to answer them. 
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Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
You mentioned that you want to adopt the national court reporting test.  Do you know how 
that ranks in comparison to Nevada's test?  What percentage is considered a passing score for 
each test to receive a license? 
 
Lori Judd: 
I believe the NCRA skills exam requires a 95 percent or better score for passage. As of now, 
Nevada's exam requires a minimum score of 97.5 percent.  The two exams are slightly 
different.  The NCRA has what they call three different legs.  Each leg is five minutes, so it 
totals 15 minutes of transcription.  Nevada uses a 12-minute exam, of which 10 minutes is 
transcribed.  Our exam uses four speakers over the course of 10 minutes.  The NCRA 
exam contains five minutes of straight literary dictation, five minutes of jury-charged 
dictation, and a third leg of question and answers—or two people speaking.  The NCRA has 
a written exam as well.  We would like our candidates in Nevada to sit for our particular 
written examination in addition to the NCRA skills examination.  Our written exam, unlike 
our skills exam, is not an expense to the Board. 
 
Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
Would we be missing out on any fees for the Nevada exams that candidates will no longer 
be taking? 
 
Lori Judd: 
The Board is self-sustaining.  We do not receive any taxpayer money or any money from the 
General Fund.  The fees that we generate from potential test candidates do not really even 
cover the cost of administering the exam, so what it will ultimately do is result in a net gain 
of perhaps a few hundred dollars each year.  In the end, it would be a net gain for our Board, 
whereas right now our current licensees are actually subsidizing the cost of administering the 
examination. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
Since this would be a new certification, I do not see a fee listed for it.  I do not see your fee 
schedule in the bill.  What would the fee for recognizing the national exam be?  I am sure 
these candidates would have to file some paperwork with you, and you would have some 
type of application process. 
 
Lori Judd: 
That is correct.  Upon successfully passing the NCRA skills exam, applicants would submit 
their scores with their paperwork to sit for the written exam, and then they would pay the fee 
for the written exam. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
Is the written exam the same as the blue book exam, or do you have a separate written exam 
for that? 
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Lori Judd: 
We have a separate exam that is created by a testing committee the Board creates. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
How much does that exam cost? 
 
Lori Judd: 
That exam is currently part of the total exam.  Right now, the cost is $200. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I think I am a little lost.  These applicants will already be nationally certified, but you are still 
going to give them a test. 
 
Lori Judd: 
They are nationally certified, but they take a written exam, not a skills exam, in Nevada.  
The justification for this is that we have many industries in Nevada—especially with gaming 
and mining—that have procedures and the laws that specify professional obligations.  
We would like all of the candidates to be aware of these laws and procedures.  We would like 
applicants to know and understand that they have to do things such as retain their notes for 
eight years—whether the notes are transcribed or not.  We would like applicants to know that 
they are obligated to notify us of address changes and those types of things, and we spell 
that out in a written exam that we administer. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
That is, in essence, the blue book exam—the law and procedure exam that every Board 
administers to every licensee—that says that licensees have to know Nevada law.  Is that the 
test you are talking about? 
 
Lori Judd: 
That is correct.  We do not call it a blue book test, but if we did, that would be the blue book 
exam. 
 
Assemblywoman Tolles: 
As I look at section 19, subsections (f) and (g), it appears to me the original issuance and the 
annual renewal of a temporary certificate is $100.  I know these are valid for not more than 
12 months.  I am curious about the difference between the $100 fee for a temporary 
certificate versus $150 to $250 for a non-temporary certificate. 
 
Lori Judd: 
It is my understanding that at some point every year, the Board meets and fixes fees for the 
next year.  I believe section 19 says that fees are fixed by the Board annually and cannot be 
less than $90 or more than $250.  Our fee schedule has to do with our yearly budget and how 
much money we feel we need to generate to meet our budget. 
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It is my recollection that the temporary certificate was an attempt to address a request by the 
Office of the Governor that we make it easier for those in the military—and military 
spouses—to become licensed here.  Part of this bill addresses the temporary certificate 
for those in the military, and we wanted to adjust the fee for that.  The reduction in fee would 
be temporary as well; when military candidates receive a permanent license they would be 
bumped up to the regular annual fee that is set according to section 19, subsection (a), 
or NRS 656.220. 
 
Assemblywoman Tolles: 
How many times can a temporary certificate holder renew?  Is there a limit? 
 
Lori Judd: 
To be honest with you, we have not yet had a temporary certificate holder, so I cannot even 
answer that question.  It should probably be an agenda item that the Board can discuss in an 
open meeting, and we will probably work it out that way.  It might also require us to come 
back to the Legislature in two years to specify the language.  We have never billed out to 
issue a temporary certificate. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
Is your temporary certificate similar to a provisional, where if something were found, 
you could automatically pull that certificate back without having to go through the hearing 
process?  If not, what was the purpose behind the temporary certificate?  Usually, when we 
issue provisional licenses, it is because we are waiting for some documents or we need some 
other information.  We are comfortable enough to allow someone to practice, but we do not 
have everything we need, and sometimes something shows up later that we need to address.  
Is that the purpose behind temporary certificates? 
 
Lori Judd: 
That is not necessarily the purpose behind temporary certificates.  This is probably going to 
need to be the subject of an agenda item for the full Board to discuss because we have never 
officially issued a temporary or a provisional license.  We have only issued licenses under 
current NRS provisions, which say that licensee candidates have to pass our skills exam and 
our written exam at a certain percentage, and then we ratify those test results.  Any "what if" 
scenarios would probably have to be discussed by the Board in the future. 
 
Our Board has due process, and we have had licensees who have had their licenses 
suspended or have had their licenses revoked in certain circumstances.  We work with the 
Office of the Attorney General, and we are assigned a deputy attorney general who walks us 
through the due process for anyone whose license comes under scrutiny or who has violated 
any terms of NRS Chapter 656. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I just want to make sure we are giving you and your Board what you actually need in 
case you need the statutory authority to do something.  If you do not have that authority, 
you cannot promulgate the regulation because it will have no basis to cite back to.  I want to 
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make sure I understand what you are actually trying to accomplish with temporary and/or 
provisional certificates.  I am not sure if there is a real definition in the bill, but we can 
discuss that and figure out what actually needs to be defined to get you where you need to go. 
 
Lori Judd: 
I appreciate the question, and I appreciate your bringing that potential scenario to our 
attention. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
I have a question about sections 3 and 4.  Since this bill allows temporary licenses, is there 
a different standard of penalty for someone who does not have a temporary license versus 
someone who does?  I assume that the penalty is short-term if it is for a temporary licensee, 
so I just want to know if the penalties are the same. 
 
Lori Judd: 
The penalties are the same.  It is not our intention at all to issue even a temporary certificate 
to someone who has not already passed the skills portion of the NCRA exam or who is not 
already licensed in Nevada. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Are there any other questions from the Committee?  [There were none.]  I will now open the 
hearing to testimony in support of S.B 406 (R1).  Is there anyone who would like to give 
testimony in support?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone who would like to testify in 
opposition to the bill?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone who is neutral and would like to 
make themselves heard?  [There was no one.]  I think we need to clarify the bill, 
Senator Hammond.  I think we can get there.  I appreciate your bringing the bill forth, and we 
will follow up on the outstanding answers we need to get. 
 
I will close the hearing on Senate Bill 406 (1st Reprint) and open the hearing on 
Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint).  At this time, I will invite Senator Kieckhefer back to the 
witness table. 
 
Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint):  Provides for the licensure and regulation of 

anesthesiologist assistants. (BDR 54-155) 
 
Senator Ben Kieckhefer, Senate District No. 16: 
I am here today to present Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint).  I am joined at the table by 
Marcus Conklin, whom you all know well, and Dr. Jerry Matsumura, whom I assume many 
of you also know well.  If not, you will know him shortly.  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5086/Overview/
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Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint) provides for licensure and regulation of anesthesiologist 
assistants by the Nevada State Board of Medical Examiners.  An anesthesiologist assistant 
(AA) is a highly skilled professional who works under the direction of a licensed 
anesthesiologist and is part of an anesthesia care team designed to implement anesthesia care 
plans.  There are more than 1,400 certified AAs in the United States currently practicing in 
17 states. 
 
The number of surgeries and complex diagnostic procedures requiring anesthesia increases 
each year.  As the market for anesthesia services grows, it is important to have more qualified 
anesthesia practitioners who are able to work in Nevada.  The AA profession began in the 
1960s when there was a shortage of anesthesia professionals in the United States.  The goal 
was to create a new master's-level program that would enable graduates to deliver anesthesia 
care under the direction of a licensed physician anesthesiologist.  For more than 45 years, 
AAs have worked alongside physicians in the same way that physician assistants currently 
work with surgeons, internists, and pediatricians. 
 
Last session, a similar bill to license and regulate AAs was introduced, Senate Bill 181 
of the 78th Session.  It was passed out of this Committee and the full Senate with unanimous 
support; however, in the final days of the session, the Assembly did not take final action by 
the deadline, and the bill died.  Testimony on that bill focused on the scope of practice for 
AAs and certified registered nurse anesthetists (CRNAs), which have many of the same job 
components.  Both professionals have similar scopes of practice in assessing patients, 
administering anesthetics, and providing post-anesthesia care.  However, while nurse 
anesthetists practice under varying degrees of independence, AAs cannot practice without 
a supervising anesthesiologist.  Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint) maintains this differing 
relationship, while providing more qualified anesthesia practitioners throughout Nevada. 
 
Testimony from last session also noted that AAs are recognized by the Centers for Medicare 
and Medicaid Services (CMS) as non-physician anesthetists, with identical standings to nurse 
anesthetists.  Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services pays for most commercial services 
provided by these professionals on an equal basis, including those administered as part of 
a care team.  Anesthesiologist assistants may work in any Veterans Affairs (VA) hospital. 
 
I believe Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint) is a common-sense approach to increase access to 
health care in Nevada.  Having a sufficient number of health care professionals to provide the 
services needed also plays an important role in maintaining adequate access to health care.  
There are going to be several people testifying later who will describe various benefits that 
this licensure will provide.  You will hear from anesthesiologists themselves; schools 
that would be interested in opening new medical education opportunities here in Nevada; 
and Nevadans who are studying at AA schools across the country and who would like to be 
able to come home to practice as Nevadans.  You will also hear from hospitals who would 
welcome the practice of anesthesiologist assistants in their facilities.  I will turn the 
microphone over to Mr. Conklin to walk the Committee through the components of the bill. 
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Marcus Conklin, representing Nevada State Society of Anesthesiologists: 
I would like to take a couple of minutes this afternoon to walk you through the bill, which 
has undergone some changes since it left the Senate.  Sections 3, 4, 5, and 6 provide 
definitions for "anesthesia services," "anesthesiologist assistant," "medically direct 
supervision," and "supervising anesthesiologist."  Section 7 outlines the services a licensed 
anesthesiologist is able to provide.  Sections 8 and 9 allow the Board of Medical Examiners 
to license anesthesiologist assistants and create necessary regulations.  Section 10 outlines 
the professional responsibility of the anesthesiologist assistant.  Section 11 allows the 
anesthesiologist to respond to emergencies and disasters, and other related provisions. 
 
Section 12 outlines the responsibilities of a supervising anesthesiologist.  Section 25 
provides the Board of Medical Examiners the authority to charge a fee for 
licensure.  Sections 26 and 27 provide for licensure by endorsement under certain 
circumstances.  Section 34 provides for the title of AA.  Section 35 provides that it is 
unlawful to practice without a license.  The remaining sections of the bill either 
provide conforming language or are deleted by amendment, as duly noted in the amendment. 
 
I might also add that section 25 was amended in the Senate, not only to provide the authority 
for a fee, but also to specify that fee as per the request of the Board of Medical Examiners.  
At this time, I will turn it over to Dr. Jerry Matsumura. 
 
Jerry Matsumura, M.D., Reno, Nevada: 
I would like to thank Senator Kieckhefer for sponsoring and doing a thorough introduction of 
this bill for us.  I am a full-time, practicing anesthesiologist in Reno.  We also have 
62 anesthesiologists in my group that cover the Reno, Sparks, and Carson Valley area.  
My group is also a partner with MEDNAX, which is the largest provider of anesthesia 
practitioners in the country with 3,400 anesthesia providers throughout the country.  I am 
also the past president for the Nevada State Society of Anesthesiologists and the delegate 
from Nevada to our American Society of Anesthesiologists, which has 52,000 members.  
Within your packet of information is a letter from the president of the American Society 
of Anesthesiologists, Dr. Jeffrey Plagenhoef (Exhibit C).  The American Society of 
Anesthesiologists is supportive of S.B. 210 (R1). 
 
As Senator Kieckhefer mentioned, S.B. 210 (R1) provides legislation for the regulation and 
licensing of anesthesiologist assistants.  Anesthesiologist assistants are subspecialized forms 
of physician assistants who specialize only in anesthesiology.  They are also certified through 
the same organization that certifies physicians, the National State Board of Medical 
Examiners. 
 
The reason why we are supporting this bill is because there have been shortages of 
anesthesia providers to certain subsets of the population in this state.  During the 26th (2010) 
Special Session, due to budgetary cuts anesthesiology was singled out as a specialty, and our 
payment rate was reduced by 50 percent.  At that time, I gave testimony to the Department of 
Health and Human Services and said the cuts would lead to a reduction in provider 
participation in Medicaid.  We certainly saw that for the next five years.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975C.pdf
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A RAND Corporation study done in 2013 and presented to the American Society of 
Anesthesiologists in 2014 predicted that there would be a shortage of anesthesiologists by the 
year 2025.  That number came out to about 3,000 anesthesiologists short by the year 2025.  
Steps like AA licensing for the state of Nevada are ways to be proactive, rather than 
reactive—and scrambling for practitioners in a time of shortage.  To exacerbate the situation 
with access to care, the Affordable Care Act (ACA) expanded Medicaid enrollees by over 
60 percent for the state of Nevada.  On the average for other states, it has been about 
15 percent, but Nevada has seen a larger proportion. 
 
You will hear testimony from the large regional medical centers in the state, Sunrise Health 
Care and Renown Health.  These centers or hospitals are the last resource for people who 
have surgical emergencies and are in need of surgical care or do not have financial resources.  
They may be on Medicaid, or they may not have any insurance at all.  In a free market 
system, it is easy to find anesthesia providers to do the well-paying, well-insured cases from 
7 a.m. to 3 p.m., Monday through Friday; but on weekends or evenings, it is harder to find 
anesthesia services.  Therefore, hospitals resort to getting exclusive contracts with anesthesia 
groups to ensure their patients get coverage 24 hours a day, 7 days a week for all kinds of 
cases and all classifications of patients. 
 
As far as the options anesthesiologists have, in 17 other states, an anesthesiologist has 
a choice of an anesthesia resident, a nurse anesthetist, or an anesthesiology assistant 
as a physician extender for them (Exhibit D).  In Nevada, we have the choice of one—nurse 
anesthetist.  On average, all other medical specialties have the option of an average of 
6.5 physician extenders for each specialty.  Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint) will create another 
category so Nevadans will have the choice of at least two extenders. 
 
It is hard to testify first because I do not know exactly what the opposing testimony 
will be.  In the Senate testimony, it was often mentioned that nurse anesthetists practice 
independently in the state of Nevada.  That is incorrect.  According to the Code of 
Federal Regulations, under the conditions of participation for hospitals, it reads that 
anesthesia must be administered by a qualified anesthesiologist; a doctor of medicine, 
a doctor of osteopathic medicine, a dentist, oral surgeon, podiatrist, or a CRNA who is under 
the supervision of an operating practitioner or an anesthesiologist who is immediately 
available.  Within our own state regulations and the materials submitted in my written 
testimony (Exhibit E), under Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 449.388, in a similar 
language, says a certified registered nurse anesthetist is under the direction of the operating 
practitioner or of an anesthesiologist.  Additionally, NAC 449.9945 states the same rules 
apply in ambulatory surgical centers. 
 
That being said, there was a little confusion because CRNAs do have the ability to bill 
independently when the nurse anesthetist is practicing under the operating practitioner.  That 
might be where some of the confusion has come up in the past, but they do not actually 
practice legally without being supervised by the operating practitioner or an anesthesiologist.  
When you look at the costs of an independently billing nurse anesthetist who is working  
  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975D.pdf
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under the operating practitioner for the programs of Medicare, Medicaid, workers' 
compensation, or Tricare, they are paid the same rate as an anesthesiologist.  For health 
maintenance organizations (HMOs) or private insurers, it is whatever they choose to contract, 
and I am not at liberty to know what those are due to Stark Law. 
 
I need to address something that came up in opposing testimony, and that is anesthesiologists 
are doing this to make four times the amount of money by supervising four AAs at a time.  
However, when an anesthesiologist supervises a nurse anesthetist or an anesthesiologist 
assistant, the bill is split.  With concurrency—when an anesthesiologist supervises two—the 
bill is split again, but then there is a reduction in the payment by 10 percent.  When there is 
three-to-one concurrency, the bill is split again, and then there is a 25 percent reduction.  
When four AAs are supervised at a time, it is reduced by 40 percent after splitting the bill. 
 
There is also an argument that S.B. 210 (R1) would displace nurse anesthetists.  In your 
materials, you will see a spreadsheet that shows a comparison of states and the number of 
nurse anesthetists per 100,000 population (Exhibit F).  States in the first section are states 
that allow practicing anesthesiology assistants.  The second section shows states that do not 
allow anesthesiology assistants to practice in that state.  In fact, it shows that in 2016, on the 
average, there were five CRNAs per 100,000 population more in the states that have working 
anesthesiology assistants.  I think that is pretty good evidence that they are not displacing 
nurse anesthetists.  The same argument was made by the opposition that S.B. 210 (R1) was 
going to displace anesthesiologists. 
 
I also included some numbers from five states that license anesthesiology assistants in my 
written testimony (Exhibit E).  Membership data from the American Society of 
Anesthesiologists shows there is an increase in the number of anesthesiologists in those states 
commensurate with the growth of the population. 
 
I wish to thank Madam Chair and the members of the Committee for allowing me to give 
testimony.  I would be glad to answer any questions for you. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I will open the hearing to questions from the Committee. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I would like to go through the definition of "medically direct supervision" in section 5 of the 
bill, where it says that it is, ". . . effectively to re-establish direct contact with the patient to 
meet the medical needs . . . ."  It is my understanding, under this bill, one doctor could 
supervise up to four AAs.  I want to make sure I understand the physical ramifications of 
"medically direct supervision." 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
To answer your first question, there are two types of supervision: one is termed "supervision" 
and the one we are relating to in S.B. 210 (R1) is "medical direction," although the 
Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) has chosen to use the term "medically direct supervision."  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975F.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975E.pdf


Assembly Committee on Commerce and Labor 
May 1, 2017 
Page 21 
 
Medical direction is a more stringent form of supervision and requires seven steps:  
the anesthesiologist performs a preoperative evaluation; prescribes the anesthetic; personally 
participates in the most demanding parts of that anesthetic, which is usually the induction and 
the emergence; ensures any of the procedures that need to be performed are performed by 
a qualified person, either the anesthesiologist himself, the nurse anesthetist, or an AA; 
monitor the course of the anesthesia at frequent intervals; remain immediately available for 
diagnosis and treatment of emergencies; and provide indicative post-anesthesia care. 
 
To answer your second question, being "immediately available" is the language used in the 
bill, and that is recognized language within our specialty.  I can provide the actual definition 
through the American Society of Anesthesiologists, which I think was developed at the 
House of Delegates meeting in October 2014.  It is very well-defined in specific language.  
It is referred to in the Code of Federal Regulations under Conditions of Participation under 
Medicare. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I received a lot of information that did not really answer my question.  I would like to 
understand "medically direct supervision."  I understand all of the terms you gave me, but let 
me give you an example.  Say I go in for a test.  There is a room with about 10 or 12 different 
bays in it.  The facility has three or four people cycling through to have these same tests 
done, and all of them are going under anesthesia.  The facility has one doctor and four AAs.  
Does that mean that those four rooms are all next to each other so the doctor can hop from 
room to room, or does that mean one doctor is in this center and one is in another center?  
I ask because sometimes hospitals have two different wings, and there is a physical 
separation between the two.  I want to understand the physicality of that direct supervision.  
When you put me under anesthesia, I want you in the room.  That is the worst part of having 
anything done to you, and I just want to know what is going on. 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Two other speakers will be giving testimony who have actually engaged in the practice of 
medical direction and supervision, but I can still answer the question.  The intended use 
for medical direction of AAs is that the anesthesiologist is immediately available in the 
operating room.  In other words, the two are in rooms right next to each other.  We would not 
be scheduling anesthesiologist assistants to provide care in the magnetic resonance imaging 
suite, the obstetrics suite, and the main operating room.  All three AAs would be immediately 
adjacent to each other. 
 
The morning is the time of day when we most often experience the logjam of cases you 
described; that is because most people think their procedures are scheduled for 7:30 a.m.  
We stagger morning start times, however, in the operating room.  Some cases start at 
6:45 a.m. or 7 a.m.; the majority will start at 7:30 a.m., but we start some at 8 a.m..  Right 
now, we are an all-physician practice so we do not do any medically direct supervision yet.  
That would give us the chance for an anesthesiologist to induce in one room, make sure 
everything is stable, and then go to the next room. 
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You will hear testimony from two other speakers that in Nevada, most practices right now 
only supervise at a concurrency rate of 1:2 or 1:3.  We reserve the ability to supervise at 
a rate of 1:4, so if there is an emergency case that needs to be added and there is an 
anesthesiologist assistant or CRNA available, we will still be in compliance with the Code of 
Federal Regulations.  Actually, it is already legal in the state of Nevada for an 
anesthesiologist to supervise seven nurse anesthetists if they so choose. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I will have plenty of questions for the nursing people when they come up, but I believe you 
are speaking about a different scenario than an anesthesiologist assistant.  Did you say your 
practice does not use CRNAs at all; that you strictly use doctors? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
That is correct.  We currently have 62 physicians in our group. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I understand you have no CRNAs in your practice.  Is there any particular reason why you do 
not use them?  I know most of the time when I am put under, a CRNA is the person doing it, 
so I am curious why you would not use that profession in your practice. 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
The group that I am with has been an all-physician anesthesiologist group since its inception 
in 1948.  Up to this point, we have not found the need to hire anyone other than physician 
anesthesiologists.  We created a category for nurse anesthetists and anesthesiologist assistants 
at Renown in anticipation of a labor shortage. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I have many more questions, but I am sure other people have questions too. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Mr. Conklin, did you want to respond to Assemblywoman Carlton's questions? 
 
Marcus Conklin: 
Under section 7, subsection 3, Assemblywoman Carlton mentioned that she did not want to 
go under without having an actual doctor present.  I just want to point out under the 
provisions of section 7, subsection 3, there has to be consent from the patient.  You have 
that right, under this bill to have the doctor as opposed to an anesthesiologist assistant or 
a care-team model, which is what it is typically referred to as. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
In that case, what is my option when I am laying there?  I have been all prepped; I am ready 
to go; and then you hand me a paper and I say I do not want that.  What are my options? 
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Jerry Matsumura: 
We get consent in the pre-operation holding area, before patients are prepped or receive 
medication, so they have that option.  With anesthesiologist assistants, I just want to reiterate 
that there is always a physician anesthesiologist involved in the case when anesthesiologist 
assistants are providing care.  As I said, according to the state and federal statutes, a nurse 
anesthetist could be supervised by an anesthesiologist or the operating practitioner, whether 
that is a surgeon, a podiatrist, a dentist, or an oral surgeon. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
That is where my confusion is.  I do not believe CRNAs have to have that same level of 
supervision because of the level of education they have.  When they come up to testify we 
can get this straightened out. 
 
Assemblyman Hansen: 
I did not know that under existing Nevada law, you could have a 1:7 ratio.  We are going to 
tighten it up to a 1:4 ratio for anesthesiologists and AAs, but I had no idea it was that broad.  
I would be much more nervous having seven other patients being supervised by one medical 
doctor than one anesthesiologist supervising four.  In other words, we are actually tightening 
up the law under S.B. 201 (R1).  Is my assumption correct? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Yes.  Not only are we tightening it up in the scope of the ratio, but as I mentioned to 
Assemblywoman Carlton, there are seven steps to "medical direction" that are not required 
for "supervision." 
 
Assemblyman Hansen: 
There are another 17 or 18 states that currently allow AAs; is that correct?  I heard that AAs 
have been in practice for more than half a century.  Is there any evidence from any of those 
states, after they adopted the AA policy we are considering here, that there were any patients 
who were harmed?  Has there been an increase in liability insurance?  What is the evidence 
that this practice actually resulted in somebody being harmed? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
It is actually 16 states and the District of Columbia that allow for AA practice.  In the 
last session, we submitted testimony that showed the safety of anesthesiology assistants in 
the state of Ohio.  We also presented evidence from Florida's licensing board that stated there 
has not been any disciplinary action taken against anesthesiology assistants.  What was the 
last part of your question? 
 
Assemblyman Hansen: 
If we add AAs into our current practice, is there any evidence from the states that have 
already done this—and for over half a century in some cases—of any cases of patients 
actually being harmed by AAs? 
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Jerry Matsumura: 
Not that we have seen.  In fact, I actually have a copy of my malpractice insurance 
application, and nowhere on it does it even ask if I participate in an anesthesia care-team 
model, or supervise nurse anesthetists or AAs.  Malpractice companies insure 
anesthesiologists at the same rate, and that is in light of the fact that if you work in 
a care-team model, you are probably doing two to three times the volume of cases a year than 
an anesthesiologist who is personally performing the anesthetics himself. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
I was reading NAC 449.388, and I have a couple of questions that relate to section 7, 
subsection 1(d) in the bill.  Subsection 3(c) of NAC 449.388 says, "For inpatients, 
a postanesthesia follow-up report by the person who administered the anesthesia."  What if 
the anesthesiologist is the one who actually gave the preanesthesia care, could an AA then 
provide the postanesthesia follow-up?  Is that allowable? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
The anesthesiologist does the post-op evaluation, and that is the seventh step of the medical 
direction.  It is, however, a team approach.  In addition, there are frequent medical hand-offs 
in medicine, where one team or one practitioner may start a case, but they are relieved or 
change shifts and another practitioner takes over.  That is called a medical hand-off, and we 
have special checklists to make sure that everything is covered. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
That is why I am confused.  As I understand NAC 449.388, it seems for inpatient care the 
tasks must be done by the same individual.  Section 7, subsection 1(d) of the bill states that 
AAs will provide anesthetic care during and after the procedure.  Will this process now have 
two people involved?  I do not know how the team model works because we do not actually 
have AAs in Nevada. 
 
The second part of my question comes from section 7, subsection 1(d) of the bill, which 
gives AAs the ability to maintain and alter levels of anesthesia.  I highlighted that phrase 
because altering levels of anesthesia may be increasing it.  I really want to get a good 
understanding about preanesthesia care in relation to that, and what that supervision would 
look like in this case. 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Changing or altering levels of care is standard training for anesthesiologists, nurse 
anesthetists, and anesthesiology assistants.  They titrate the anesthesia to the patient's body 
functions.  To answer your prior question, I do not know if the language is written in such 
a way, but the supervising anesthesiologist does not necessarily have to be the exact same 
person throughout care.  As I said, there are medical hand-offs during care.  
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Assemblywoman Neal: 
I have another question about section 7, subsection l(i), which talks about AAs "Evaluating 
and treating life-threatening situations . . . ."  The word that gave me pause was "evaluating."  
There is a difference between evaluating versus treating life-threatening situations, but the 
language in the bill includes both.  The bill uses the word "and."  What does it mean by an 
AA evaluating a life-threatening situation?  Is the supervising anesthesiologist going to be 
present when this evaluation is occurring, or will they be able to say, "Here is the report on 
patient X; go in there and evaluate"?  What is happening in this situation? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Evaluating a patient's condition, whether a life-threatening situation or a nonlife-threatening 
situation—or in any situation—is also within the standard practice for anesthesiologists, 
nurse anesthetists, and AAs.  If it is becoming a life-threatening situation, in all probability 
the ancillary anesthesia provider—whether it is a nurse anesthetist or an AA—would 
probably be notifying their supervising anesthesiologist.  In the situation where a nurse 
anesthetist is practicing under the operating practitioner, he or she would only be able to 
notify the operating practitioner.  I see that this is a higher level of safety for anesthesia. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
Would they be notifying the supervisor before or after they provide treatment? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
It depends on the situation, but it would probably occur simultaneously.  The anesthesiologist 
assistant would probably say, "please obtain the supervising anesthesiologist as we treat this 
problem." 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
My next question is about section 7, subsection 3, where it says, "Before an anesthesiologist 
assistant administers to a patient any anesthetic agent that includes a controlled substance, 
the anesthesiologist assistant or supervising anesthesiologist shall . . . ."  This concerned me 
because the anesthesiologist is administering a controlled substance to the patient, but the 
"or" statement allows the AA or the supervising anesthesiologist to perform the task.  I think 
if you are making the exception here, the controlled substance should not be administered by 
the AA; it should be administered by the supervising anesthesiologist.  It is as if you 
are giving them the authority to administer and then tell the patient that, by the way, it is an 
AA who is going to give it to you. 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Administering controlled substances are also in the basic training and standard practice for 
all three categories of practitioners.  For the anesthesiologist assistant, the anesthetic will be 
prescribed by the anesthesiologist.  
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Assemblywoman Neal: 
This is occurring at the point when the doctor is disclosing and getting consent from the 
patient.  Section 7, subsections 3(a) and 3(b) deal with disclosure and consent.  I do not think 
the AA should be the person who is going to administer; I do not think there should be an 
"or" in the language.  Both should be present at that disclosure or the consent; it should not 
be the AA "or" the supervising anesthesiologist.  To do otherwise seems to contradict what 
you were saying when you cited NAC 449.9945 and talked about the AA being "under the 
direction of."  I think consent and disclosure should be under the direction of the supervising 
anesthesiologist.  Consent and disclosure of what is happening is a big portion of legal 
liability.  I do not think this should be optional, nor do I think the AA should be the person 
who is making that disclosure, and then also find themselves in the position of treating or 
administering to that individual.  That is just my take on this. 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
I think the indication in that subsection is it would be more appropriate to have the 
supervising anesthesiologist provide that disclosure and get that consent, if we heard that 
correctly. 
 
Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
I have a couple of questions.  Will there be any limitation to what kind of surgeries AAs can 
oversee?  Will they be able to oversee an open-heart surgery or a bypass surgery?  
An anesthesiologist might have four major surgeries going on, all being performed by an 
assistant. 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
You will hear testimony from an anesthesiologist assistant who specializes in cardiac 
anesthesiology.  As I mentioned earlier, in the practices that you will hear testimony from, 
they are generally using a 1:2 or 1:3 ratio, not 1:4.  When we do that, we would not be 
assigning two complex supervision cases to one anesthesiologist.  We try to use either 
one anesthesiologist to supervise the complex case, or give him one complex and one more 
simple case. 
 
Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
Is that narrowed down in the bill?  Does the bill state that, or is it just implied? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
No, it is not stated in the bill.  That is a standard practice and how we schedule things.  
It is how we schedule all of our work.  We match people's skill sets to the difficulty of 
the cases.  We have subspecialists in pediatric anesthesia, so we put those people with the 
pediatric cases.  We have cardiac specialists, and we would do the same as far as their 
assignments.  We try not to assign somebody to something that is out of their skill set or 
comfort zone. 
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Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
You also answered yes to my colleague's question about how this bill actually tightens up 
regulations by taking it from a 1:7 ratio to a 1:4.  That does not really seem to be the case, 
however, because right now CRNAs do not have to be supervised by an anesthesiologist.  
Anesthesiologists can oversee up to seven CRNAs, but CRNAs do not have to be overseen 
by an anesthesiologist.  They can just be overseen, one-on-one, by one of the doctors in the 
operating room.  This bill is not really tightening up the regulations. 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
No, there is no reference in this bill to nursing at all.  All I was referring to was 
Assemblyman Hansen's comments that this is a stricter form of supervision.  Medical 
direction is a stricter form of supervision.  In other words, there are the seven required steps, 
and we are not asking for a 1:7 ratio; we are asking for a 1:4 maximum.  That is a national 
standard for medical direction in the conditions of participation in federal code. 
 
Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
I have another concern that we are going to use the supervised care as our way to provide 
care to people who might not have access to anesthesiologists.  You mentioned people who 
are indigent, on Medicaid, or maybe people in the rurals.  I worry that instead of sending 
anesthesiologists out to them, we are going to send assistants.  I think everyone should have 
the same access to great care. 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
That is a very good comment, and I am glad that you brought it up.  I should have mentioned 
that in my testimony.  Anesthesiology assistants have to be medically directed by an 
anesthesiologist.  We cannot send them to a place to provide care independently; they have to 
have a physician anesthesiologist present.  Currently, nurse anesthetists can operate under the 
supervision of the operating practitioner, as you mentioned.  A nurse anesthetist or an 
anesthesiologist could go to the rurals and do cases there. 
 
You implied that people with fewer resources would be getting the assistants.  When we do 
our schedule, the schedule is blind to insurance status.  As  I said earlier, we base 
assignments on trying to match the complexity of cases to the practitioners' skill sets such as 
pediatric subspecialists or cardiac subspecialists.  We do not base assignments on patients' 
insurance status. 
 
Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
I just brought that question up because earlier in your testimony you said there is trouble 
finding anesthesiologists for Medicaid patients or patients in the evenings.  If it is a blind 
assignment, that should be the case. 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Could you repeat your question? 
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Assemblywoman Jauregui: 
I just brought that question up because in your earlier testimony you said sometimes there is 
difficulty finding anesthesiologists for Medicaid patients or patients who need surgery on the 
weekends or evenings.  If scheduling is blind, then that should not be the case.  That is not 
a question that you have to answer, but that is the reason why my question came up. 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
I think that related to when the reimbursement rate for Medicaid was cut.  That statement was 
based on the number of providers that were signed up through Medicaid to serve as 
anesthesiologists through the Medicaid program.  I think that was the reference on that side; 
how the hospital and the physicians' group manages that care in the emergency room is blind 
to insurance, which is what Dr. Matsumura was trying to say. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
I am a little confused, and I am hoping you can help me.  You used your group, which is 
a physician-only group, as an example of a provider for this service.  Under current law, 
however, you can have up to seven CRNAs with one anesthesiologist.  What you are 
proposing is to have four AAs with one anesthesiologist.  Is the issue a shortage of caregivers 
in the field?  Is that the primary issue and the reason why we are trying to expand this?  
It seems as if the bill does not really do that.  Help me understand this.  Is this simply 
a billing issue? It sounds to me like it is simply a billing issue.  What is the difference in pay 
for a CRNA and an AA, and is the primary motivation really to get the overall cost of 
care down? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
The pay question is a multifactorial question.  There was a study in one of the nurse 
anesthetist journals that compared salaries between AAs versus CRNAs, and I believe there 
was a $15,000 to $20,000 a year difference.  In every practice situation, payment is different.  
In some groups, the hospitals employ nurse anesthetists or anesthesiologist assistants, 
and then anesthesiologists come in and supervise.  In some practices, the anesthesiologists 
employ the nurse anesthetists or the anesthesiologist assistants and then bill for them and pay 
for their salary and benefits.  In some practices, nurse anesthetists bill independently, under 
the supervision of an operating surgeon.  As I mentioned earlier in my testimony, in that 
cost model for Medicare, Medicaid, workers' compensation, Tricare, or governmental 
entities, they are paid the same rate as an anesthesiologist.  Therefore, there is no cost saving 
between those two practices. 
 
By having physician extenders, it allows doctors to be more productive with a lower-cost 
practitioner.  An anesthesiologist assistant is a lower-cost practitioner than an 
anesthesiologist.  I hope that answers your question. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
Regardless of whether it is an anesthesiologist, a CRNA, or an AA, you get to bill at the 
same unit.  Is that correct? 
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Jerry Matsumura: 
No.  An AA—and it is actually written in the bill—cannot bill outside of the supervising 
anesthesiologist.  When an anesthesiologist is supervising a nurse anesthetist or an 
anesthesiologist assistant, the bill is split fifty-fifty.  When they supervise 2:1, the bill is split, 
again, fifty-fifty, but there is also a 10 percent reduction in the base value.  When there 
is 3:1 concurrency, it is reduced 25 percent in addition to splitting it.  When it is 4:1, it is 
reduced 40 percent after splitting.  As I said, the goal is not to try to medically direct 
four assistants at one time.  Anybody who practices in the care team model knows that is 
a lot of work and that is hard.  We just reserve that to have the capacity to remain in 
compliance.  We usually shoot for a 1:2 or a 1:3 ratio, and you will hear that from other 
people who will be giving testimony. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
Those same billing rates, as the bill splits and discounts apply to a ratio of anesthesiologist 
and an AA, or an anesthesiologist and a CRNA, regardless, correct? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Yes, that is correct. 
 
Assemblyman Brooks: 
Would you say there is a shortage of anesthesiologists and CRNAs currently in Nevada? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Yes. 
 
Assemblywoman Tolles: 
Can you speak to a comparison of the education and qualifications of an AA and a CRNA?  
I would also like to thank Kayleen Richter for posting the charts on the Nevada Electronic 
Legislative Information System (Exhibit G).  If you are looking at section 8, subsection (a), 
the first requirement listed is that AAs are at least 18 years of age.  That automatically makes 
me think of "Doogie Howser."  I know there is more than just a high school diploma 
involved, but can you speak to the qualifications of an AA in comparison to a CRNA? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
I am beginning to step on other people's testimony, but I certainly can answer that question.  
The age of 18 was an amendment Senator Hardy asked us to include in the bill.  Technically, 
an AA cannot be any younger than 23 years of age, because they have to get a bachelor's 
degree, and they have to have the same premedical education that physicians have.  They 
take calculus, statistics, physics, biology, chemistry, organic chemistry with laboratories, 
and they take the medical college admissions test.  They also have to have a minimum grade 
point average (GPA) of 3.0.  We also have data showing AAs have the same GPAs as 
medical students.  Anesthesiologist assistants go through a 24-28 month master's program 
that is specifically for anesthesia sciences. In comparison, physician assistants also complete 
a master's-level program, but it is general.  They cover orthopedics, geriatrics, pediatrics, 
and family practice; whereas for anesthesiologist assistants, the program is specific 
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to anesthesia.  There will be testimony from some students who are currently rotating 
through my program at Renown, and members from the American Association of 
Anesthesiologist Assistants who will speak to educational requirements in even more detail. 
 
Assemblywoman Tolles: 
I just want to clarify:  is that comparable, somewhat, to CRNA requirements? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Yes.  In the side-by-side comparison in my written testimony (Exhibit E), it is comparable 
to what is required of nurse anesthetists.  A nurse anesthetist also gets a bachelor's 
degree-----usually in nursing—obtains clinical experience, and then goes through 
a master's-level program as well.  They both usually get approximately 2,000 clinical hours 
of training. 
 
Assemblyman Kramer: 
That actually answered most of my question.  If, however, they are so close in training, 
why are there two categories?  Why are the AAs not qualifying for the CRNAs? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Some of the other speakers will speak on that, but the basis of training is similar to the 
comparison between a nurse practitioner and a physician assistant.  They just go through 
different tracks of training to be physician extenders.  The main difference is one has chosen 
a more basic science track, and one has chosen a nursing track. 
 
Assemblyman Daly: 
Most of my questions have been answered through the course of this discussion.  You went 
over the similar training; and we talked about "immediately available" versus "medically 
direct supervision."  To me, a lot of this sounds like déjà vu, if you will.  I know we had 
similar discussions when we were talking about physician assistants, nurse practitioners, 
and various things.  To me it all seems to boil down to the same thing:  if the training is the 
same—and hopefully you can speak a little bit to that—it becomes an issue of access.  
You talked about Medicaid and Medicare, and the whole issue with the billing practices 
and various things and trying to get people access to care under those provisions.  Can you 
talk a little bit about the access people are going to have, and not passing this bill versus 
passing it?  Does it just create another option for people to be able to have the care? 
 
I guess I am not seeing this the same way some of the others are.  We do not have a reduction 
in doctors because we have physician assistants; we do not have a reduction in nurses or 
doctors because we have practicing registered nurses.  We have had the argument about 
various things before.  Can you touch on what it is we are trying to do to increase access to 
people who might not have access because of the shortages you talked about?  Try to address 
that side of the issue for me. 
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Jerry Matsumura: 
That requires a long answer, but I will try to keep it short.  Bringing this category of 
practitioner makes us more efficient.  To use a simple example—and not to belittle any 
of their skill sets, whether it is nurse anesthetists or anesthesiologist assistants—having had 
eight years of post-baccalaureate training, there are certain things that I do as an 
anesthesiologist that really are an inefficient use of my time.  These are tasks such as drawing 
up and labelling syringes and checking an anesthesia machine.  I should, instead, 
be concentrating on the patient's medical condition and prescribing the anesthetic, and have 
somebody who is a pair of hands for me that can do those other tasks. 
 
Anesthesiologist assistants will be used more in the larger groups, as I mentioned.  
At Sunrise and Renown, they have had to go to the large anesthesia groups to make sure they 
have coverage for all the cases where the shortage is.  As I said, there is no shortage in 
finding someone to handle cases Monday through Friday from 7 a.m. to 3 p.m., 
on well-paying, well-insured cases. During the nights, evenings and weekends, however, it is 
harder for these hospitals—because they are open 24/7—to cover emergencies.  The large 
groups have picked that up, and what we are trying to do is just have a way for the 
large groups to be able to be more efficient in the delivery of their anesthesia care, just as 
gastroenterologists and orthopedic surgeons use physician assistants or nurse practitioners to 
make their practices more efficient. 
 
Assemblyman Daly: 
I have a question about billing.  The person who goes under the care of the 
anesthesiologist—whichever one of the three professionals it is—will be billed the same.  
The bill splitting due to how many assistants an anesthesiologist is supervising occurs behind 
the scenes.  Patients see that on their bill.  Am I correct in that patients will only see 
one charge, and the anesthesiologists will split the charge between themselves and the people 
they are supervising? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Yes, that it correct.  Every practice has a different method of payment, but for the patient, 
there will be one anesthesia bill.  As it says in S.B. 210 (R1), the anesthesiologist assistant 
does not bill outside of the supervising anesthesiologist. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
I have one more question about section 7 related to the scope of practice.  I was reading the 
comparison chart between CRNAs and AAs (Exhibit H) and comparing it to the language in 
the bill.  Section 7, subsection 1(m) of the bill says, "Performing and monitoring the 
administration of regional anesthesia . . . ." It then includes the phrase, "and other special 
techniques."  What are "other special techniques?"  In the document, it says CRNAs work on 
simple to complex cases, but AAs are limited in their knowledge.  
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Jerry Matsumura: 
We did not ask to have the language "other special techniques" included in the bill, but when 
I read it, I was happy to see it in there.  We have listed pretty much all of the anesthetics that 
are in there, but I think it is a good term to use because there are techniques that have been 
developed that we are not even aware of yet.  If we legislate that this is the limitation, and if 
some other technique is developed, then we have to come back to create more legislation to 
cover that new technique.  As I said, this was not something we asked to have included and 
there is no definition of what a special technique is—and that language is intentional. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
Exactly.  There is no definition and it seems, when I read it, that it could be implied or 
inferred that "other special techniques" is something that could require more of a specialty 
or might end up being more complex.  The question is, should an AA be doing that?  When 
I read the list, I felt like most of the listed tasks were basic; similar to what you said about the 
things that you do not have time to do and how AAs can help you out.  That means more to 
me than just some unknown "technique." 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
For example, there is a nerve block technique that my partners and I learned to do by going 
to continued education that did not exist two years ago, or even last year.  Each year there 
seems to be new techniques.  We even teach these new techniques to our students.  If you 
have the skill set to do a certain nerve block because you are using the ultrasound machine to 
identify the nerve, and you are taking a nerve block needle to put it near the nerve, regardless 
of what part of the body it is, it is still the same technique, and it uses the same safety 
practices, medical science, and anatomy to do it.  It is just a technique that has not been 
developed yet. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
Still staying on that point, when I read the beginning of section 7 where it says, "medically 
direct supervision," two things catch my attention.  First, an anesthesiologist is 
physically present, and he or she has medically directed an AA to do a task.  How do you 
medically direct somebody to do a special technique?  In your example of the nerve block, 
you are saying there is a deviation to that procedure.  Are you going to give a direction 
that you want an assistant to do a nerve block with a special twist to a patient?  Is that what is 
going to happen? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
What you are describing is similar to what we do currently.  For example, the new nerve 
block I just used as an example is called an "adductor canal block" and is a perfect example 
of a nerve block that we did not have before.  The answer to your question is yes; we take 
a course, we read about it, we practice it on simulations, and then we bring it to the operating 
room and perform it on a patient.  We are also instructors, so we instruct students to learn 
new techniques.  That is how we get things improved.  Surgeons do the same thing; they 
have new procedures, new ways, new technology, and how to do new procedures that did not 
exist within the last few years.  
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Assemblywoman Neal: 
I understand that.  Maybe I am just not being clear.  I trust you as the anesthesiologist; I also 
trust the surgeon and his expertise because he has the knowledge, and he can deviate from 
what he was taught.  We are talking about an AA who does not have the same level of 
experience, education, and knowledge as you have. We are talking about someone who is 
being directed by you to do a procedure.  It is totally different.  It would be like me taking 
Assemblyman Daly and saying, "Hey, I am going to give you six steps, and I am going to 
have you do it," but the difference is that I went to law school and he did not.  There is 
a difference in how he is going to implement my instructions. 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Additionally, in the medical direction process, physicians can actually perform the steps 
themselves if they need to.  If an AA would be uncomfortable with doing something, they 
would ask their attending physician for assistance or to do it for them, or they would get 
someone else with the skill set. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
We are almost done with our questions.  Assemblywoman Carlton still has questions on 
education and qualification.  You said there is somebody who is going to testify to that.  
Assemblyman Hansen, is your question on qualifications or education? 
 
Assemblyman Hansen: 
I just have one point.  You mentioned you have eight years of schooling beyond getting your 
bachelor's degree.  Is that correct? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Actually, I have nine.  I completed subspecialty training as well. 
 
Assemblyman Hansen: 
The only reason I bring this up is that, obviously, while you are supervising AAs, you are 
also putting all of your training and your license at risk, as well as the medical liability 
insurance you have to pay.  You have an incredible vested interest in ensuring the patients 
under your care, including the AAs who are assisting you, perform maximally to ensure you 
are protected as well as the clients. 
 
I am intrigued by some of the questions from my colleagues.  It is almost like they think you 
just want to make some extra money so you are going to throw four patients in front of 
four AAs, and you will just magically make a fortune by simply allowing all of these people 
to do all of these things, totally unsupervised.  I think the record needs to reflect the years and 
years of training at risk if you, in fact, lose even a single patient under an AA situation.  
Am I correct in that? 
 
Jerry Matsumura: 
Yes, I would agree with that. 
 



Assembly Committee on Commerce and Labor 
May 1, 2017 
Page 34 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I know there are other people that are testifying.  Senator Kieckhefer, would they be in 
support, and will they be able to answer the questions on education and qualification? 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
They will be able to do both.  We have an individual, Robert Wagner, who is ready to speak 
specifically to the issues of qualifications and training and who is both past president 
of the American Academy of Anesthesiology Assistants and chairman of the Department of 
Anesthesia for Nova Southeastern University.  He has practiced in this arena and currently 
trains students.  He would probably be best situated to speak to this. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
We will have Mr. Wagner come up, give his brief testimony, and then we will open the 
hearing for questions on education and qualifications. 
 
Robert Wagner, Chair, Health Professions Division, Department of Anesthesia, 

Nova Southeastern University: 
I have been an anesthesiologist assistant for 27 years.  I am a past president of the American 
Academy of Anesthesiologist Assistants, and I am currently on the board of directors 
for that association.  In addition, I am the current chair of the Department of Anesthesia at 
Nova Southeastern University, which has two AA programs:  one in Fort Lauderdale, 
Florida, and the other in Tampa, Florida. 
 
I think Dr. Matsumura did an excellent job answering the Committee's questions, but it 
sounds like there is still some confusion.  A lot of the confusion can be set aside by actually 
knowing the educational requirements of an anesthesiologist assistant.  Anesthesiologist 
assistants come from varied backgrounds.  In our program, we have had nurses, nurse 
practitioners, physician assistants, veterinarians, pharmacists, and respiratory therapists.  
We also have the candidates who may not have a biology, chemistry, or organic chemistry 
degree, but what they do have is all the same premedical requisites required to get 
into medical school.  That is the key; they have all of the sciences.  They take the 
same science course that the anesthesiologist does.  Granted, I am not comparing an AA to 
an anesthesiologist.  What I am comparing it to is the basic sciences that they do 
have.  Once they have gone on to get those basic sciences and enter an AA program, it is 
a 24 to 28 month program. 
 
Schools such as Case Western and Emory University have AA programs.  Those were the 
two AA schools that started in the late 1960s and early 1970s.  Ten more schools were added, 
including Indiana University, University of Colorado, Quinnipiac University, and Wisconsin 
Medical College.  These are all prestigious universities, and the one thing they all have in 
common is that because of the strict accreditation—and the standards and guidelines of that 
accreditation—they have to be affiliated with a medical school that supports an anesthesia  
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residency program.  That is where the students train, next to and along with the 
anesthesiologists.  If you look at the nurse anesthetist programs, they can open up anywhere.  
They do not even have to have other medical programs with them, but the federal registry 
states an AA school has to be affiliated with a medical school with a residency program. 
 
Some of the opposition may say that there are not enough AA schools.  Well guess what?  
They are right.  Do you know why?  Because it is quality over quantity and that is the truth.  
Once an AA enters into a program, the first 12 or 14 months is didactic and clinical training.  
As they are taking their didactic courses—which range from 70 to 120 credit hours, 
depending on the program—they are obtaining not only the anesthesia knowledge or the 
didactic knowledge but also the clinical knowledge.  Their last year is 100 percent clinical 
training and experience.  Anesthesia assistants travel all around the country, in practically 
every state, to obtain their clinical education.  There are even AAs who go to the 
United Kingdom—Birmingham and Wales—to be educated.  As a matter of fact, 15 years 
ago when the National Health Service of the United Kingdom wanted a non-physician 
provider, they came to the United States.  They examined the curriculum of a nurse 
anesthetist and the curriculum of the AA, and they chose the curriculum of the AA.  For the 
last ten years, they have had their form of the AA program and not one nurse anesthetist.  
They chose to take that path. 
 
Once an AA is in a program, they have to meet certain standards and guidelines by strict 
accreditation.  They have to pass a national certification exam that is administered by the 
National Board of Medical Examiners, the same organization that administers exams to 
physicians.  Anesthesiology assistants are the only anesthesia provider who have to certify as 
frequently as the physicians or the nurse anesthetists.  They have to take an exam every 
six years. 
 
Anesthesiologist assistants graduate at the master's levels.  Remember, the federal 
government only recognizes three providers for anesthesia:  the physician anesthesiologist, 
the nurse anesthetist, and the anesthesiologist assistant.  Only those three.  Out of those, only 
anesthesiologists and the AAs have to keep recertifying every six years. 
 
With that being said, we are talking about the practice of AAs.  I have been one for 27 years.  
I look at the sign that you have here on the table that says, "It is unlawful to knowingly 
misrepresent any fact when testifying or otherwise communicating to a legislator."  I hope 
a lot of people read that when the opposition comes to the table. 
 
I have been working as part of an anesthesia care team for 27 years.  I heard a Committee 
member say she wants an anesthesiologist involved in her care.  Well guess what?  
With an AA, she will get that.  We cannot practice without an anesthesiologist 
present.  Anesthesiologist assistants will guarantee that the patients of Nevada have 
a physician anesthesiologist present in the cases where an AA is involved.  
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I was a chief anesthetist at a large hospital in Atlanta, Georgia, called Emory Saint Joseph's, 
that at one time operated on as many hearts as any institution in the United States.  There 
were 11 AAs and 1 nurse anesthetist on the heart team who all worked with the 
anesthesiologist.  With that being said, Dr. Matsumura was right; the anesthesiologist is not 
going to be supervising four cardiac rooms.  An anesthesiologist may perhaps have 
one cardiac room and a couple of other, easier rooms. 
 
I want to address Assemblywoman Neal's point that anesthesia is adaption, and that is what 
our students learn.  Blood pressures fluctuate.  That is a part of anesthesia—everyone thinks 
it is all heart rate and blood pressure; it is not.  Anesthesia is recognizing what is going to 
happen next and what you need to do.  Anesthesiologist assistants are trained in crisis 
management.  If a pulmonary embolism is potentially occurring, the anesthesiologist 
assistant is trained to identify that and support the patient during that phase, while at the same 
time calling the anesthesiologist for help.  I have done it several times, and anyone who says 
they do not need help in the operating room is a liar.  [Written testimony was also submitted 
(Exhibit I).] 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Mr. Wagner, I want to be able to have people ask about education and qualifications.  
I appreciate your testimony.  Is the other young lady testifying on the qualifications and 
education? 
 
Shaina Richardson, representing Associated Anesthesiologists of Reno: 
I am a licensed physician anesthesiologist practicing in Reno.  I am here testifying in support 
of S.B. 210 (R1). I also represent my group, Associated Anesthesiologists, the largest 
anesthesiology group in northern Nevada.  I will start with a little background 
about me.  I am a sixth-generation Nevadan, born and raised in Reno.  I attended the 
University of Nevada, Reno (UNR), for undergraduate school, where I received two degrees:  
one in biochemistry and one in Spanish.  I then continued on to the University of Nevada, 
Reno School of Medicine, where I underwent didactic and clinical training, both in Reno, 
Las Vegas, and a six-month, voluntary rural rotation in Elko, Nevada.  After graduation, 
I moved on to my post-graduation residency training in Colorado, where I completed my 
residency and then returned home to practice in Reno, my home. 
 
I would like to reiterate a few points that were made during prior testimony, as I feel they are 
very important to the understanding of this specific legislation—safety and cost.  First is 
safety.  Anesthesiologist assistants function identically to nurse anesthetists within 
the anesthesia care-team model and, as has been previously mentioned, they have 
a nearly identical education.  This is an important point because just as surgeons or 
other medical physicians have the choice between a physician assistant and a nurse 
practitioner----- the equivalent providers in anesthesia are AAs and CRNAs. 
 
Anesthesiologist assistants' equivalency in patient safety has been shown in multiple, 
unbiased, and peer-reviewed studies.  Most notably is the aforementioned Ohio study of 
50,000 anesthetists, which showed there is equivalence in safety between nurse anesthetists 
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and anesthesiology assistants.  The Kentucky Legislature did a review of their safety 
equivalency and determined that they were equivalent.  Importantly, insurance companies 
classify AAs and CRNAs equally in terms of risk so our malpractice insurance is the same 
for both providers. 
 
The most important study, I believe, is the peer-reviewed Silber Study—which I can provide 
to the Committee—that used 750,000 anesthetists.  The study showed that when physician 
anesthesiologists, specifically, were involved in the care, there was a lower death rate of only 
2.5 deaths per 1,000 cases.  This makes sense to me because when there are emergencies in 
the operating room—as Mr. Wagner mentioned—you have to react very quickly.  If there is 
a surgical or anesthetic emergency, the surgeon physician can focus on their part and what 
they can do to fix this problem.  The anesthesiologist, or the AA or CRNA working in the 
care-team model, can focus on the anesthetic part.  In certain places in Nevada and 
elsewhere, where nurse anesthetists can practice underneath the supervision of a surgeon, that 
surgeon then has to split their attention from the surgical aspect of the emergency as well as 
the anesthetic aspect of the emergency.  Therefore, in my humble opinion, I think it is safer 
to have both aspects of that team focus on what they are the best at, and that is surgery and 
anesthesia, rather than have a single physician focus on both. 
 
The last thing I would like to mention is cost.  As Dr. Matsumura mentioned, patients pay the 
same rate for anesthesia services, regardless of who delivers the anesthetic.  In an overly 
simplified example, if a provider of insurance were to pay $100 for an anesthetic, 50 percent 
of that would go to the anesthesiologist and 50 percent to the mid-level provider—whether it 
is an AA or a CRNA.  That is how it would work in a care-team model.  In a physician-only 
group, that dollar amount would go solely to the anesthesiologist.  That means there is no 
increase in cost to either the patient or the state for a care-team model over an MD-only 
model. 
 
I would like to focus the remainder of my testimony on my time in anesthesia residency in 
Colorado, where I personally worked with certified AAs, and I personally trained 
AA students.  The state of Colorado allows for licensure of AAs, and the University of 
Colorado runs the westernmost AA program in the country.  The University currently uses 
a 1:3 ratio of physician anesthesiologists to mid-level providers, with the imminent change to 
the 1:4 ratio, which is the nationally adopted and regulated ratio by the Center for Medicaid 
and Medicare Services.  However, in actual practice, we most often used a 1:2 to 1:3 ratio of 
physician anesthesiologist to mid-level providers. 
 
There were a few reasons for this.  The main reason was, should a separate emergency arise, 
that physician anesthesiologist would be able to start another room or another case with 
another mid-level provider simultaneously, while still falling within the legal boundary of 
medical direction.  Since this has been brought up a few times, in the exceedingly rare 
situation where there are two emergencies simultaneously under the practice of the 
same directing physician anesthesiologist, there are other physician anesthesiologists 
around—because they are also practicing under this care-team model.  At Renown, 
for example—which has 19 operating rooms in its main operating room area—there would 
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potentially be 10 anesthesiologists all working at the same time.  If it was one of those true 
"when one second counts" emergencies, there could potentially be multiple anesthesiologists 
in the room at any time.  That is how it functions now when we work in the care-team 
model in Nevada, with CRNAs working underneath physician anesthesiologists.  We have 
that same luxury, and that will not change with the addition of AAs. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I will go ahead and pause there, because I really want to make sure we answer questions 
about qualifications and education, and I want to use this portion of the hearing for that.  
We have other people in support, and we still need to hear opposition testimony. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
I wanted to go through a couple of things, and I have a few questions about a chart that was 
provided to the Committee.  In the interest of full-disclosure—I would not want to be 
accused of not being honest—it was submitted to the Committee by Mr. Erickson from the 
American Association of Nurse Anesthetists (Exhibit H). 
 
I was just going through some of the comparative models in the chart, and what I find most 
direct is that CRNAs are basically educated to a level where people feel they are competent 
to make independent decisions and judgments, whereas AAs are not—they are assistants.  
In the didactic education, I see the number of hours that are listed for all the different 
categories, and on the other side, I see that no minimum hours are specified for each course 
or category of courses.  Under the clinical education, because of the nurse anesthetists 
coming into this education model after already getting their baccalaureate in nursing, 
they come close to having 6,000 hours of clinical patient care experience, whereas 
the AA programs are 2,000 to 2,700 hours of actual clinical education.  The training issue, 
I think, is very complicated, so I will not get too deeply into that.  As far as the relationship 
with the physician, CRNAs work cooperatively with all different types of physicians, 
whereas AAs only work with the anesthetist, so they truly are an assistant.    
 
I wanted to make something clear.  Earlier, we had heard something about VA hospitals, 
and I notice in this document that CRNAs are a predominate provider in the armed forces 
through the health care system, but AAs do not actually practice in the military.  Those are 
some of the comparisons I found, and some of the issues that I think I need to have 
answers on, including the fact that one is someone who has a level of education to where 
people feel comfortable in letting them practice with autonomy and the other is considered an 
assistant. 
 
Robert Wagner: 
It sounds like Assemblywoman Carlton has a couple of questions that I would like to clarify, 
and I hope I wrote them all down.  For the record, I am not a physician; I am an 
anesthesiologist assistant.  Anesthesiologist assistants are able to work in the VA system, 
and they are covered by Tricare.  In 2006, the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
authorized anesthesiologist assistants to practice within the Veterans Health Administration 
(Exhibit J).  Again, they are recognized by Tricare.  
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Assemblywoman Carlton: 
That is the VA, not the military, so I guess that is where the difference is, and we will have to 
find that out. 
 
Robert Wagner: 
No, I can answer that.  You are correct.  Anesthesiologist assistants do not work directly in 
the military, but they do and can work in any VA hospital within the United States. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
That is what I stated. 
 
Robert Wagner: 
As far as the difference in education of CRNAs versus AAs, physician assistants also use the 
word "assistant" in their title.  They assist a physician.  The anesthesiologist assistant does 
exactly that:  he or she assists the anesthesiologist in taking care of the patient through the 
anesthesia-care team.  There is no denying that.  Anesthesiologist assistants can and do 
work in obstetrics, neurology, and pediatrics.  They work in some of the biggest pediatric 
hospitals in the country:  Children's National Medical Center in Washington, D.C., Children's 
Medical Center of Dallas, and Children's Hospital Colorado (Exhibit K). 
 
When you look at the clinical training hours, you mentioned two different clinical numbers.  
Anesthesiologist assistants complete more than 2,000 clinical hours, and that is set by the 
standards and guidelines of the accrediting body for the programs.  When you are looking at, 
as you said, nurses who worked in the field prior to entering a CRNA program—I could say 
I was a respiratory therapist before I got into the AA program.  I worked ten years doing that, 
and I have 20,000 hours of medical experience.  Anesthesia is a specialty.  Even if you are 
a nurse, working on the hospital floor is totally different from the acuity of care that happens 
in the operating room. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Assemblywoman Carlton, can you please restate your question? 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
This list is actually correct (Exhibit H), in that the clinical education during the AA program 
is 2,000 to 2,700 hours.  Is that correct? 
 
Robert Wagner: 
Yes, it is, while they are in the program. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
There is no requirement that they have any clinical experience before they enter the program.  
Is that correct?  Can they come in right after school, after their arts and sciences 
baccalaureate? 
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Robert Wagner: 
As long as they meet all of the premedical prerequisites to get into the program, then yes.  
It is just like a physician getting into a medical school. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Do you have any other questions on education, Assemblywoman Carlton? 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
No, I think I will ask the Nevada State Board of Nursing, because they are here and they 
understand this.  I will ask the rest of the questions of the nursing board because I am pretty 
sure they will be truthful with me. 
 
Assemblyman Hansen: 
Madam Chair, I object to that.  I think it is inappropriate for one of our members to call 
somebody out and call them a liar. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
Assemblyman Hansen, when one witness goes after a future witness, pointing out that they 
need to be truthful on the record, then they should be called out for only making their 
testimony and not going after someone who has not even come to the table yet. 
 
Assemblyman Hansen: 
Madam Chair, that is why we need you to supervise these sorts of things. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Yes, we do, and I will do that.  I know we have different opinions regarding this topic, 
so I am going to remind the members—as we have been told by the Speaker—to stay 
respectful.  I ask that of the people testifying as well.  There are people here who believe 
differently than you do.  Mr. Wagner, when you stated the word liar, I think that is where it 
was offensive, and I think that is where Assemblywoman Carlton's statement came from.  
I know that you did not mean to be offensive but that is what I need to remind the group is 
that we have different opinions on this topic. 
 
I will now open the hearing for testimony in support of S.B. 210 (R1), and I am going to put 
a three-minute time limit on testimony.  I want to specifically hear about the education so 
I will let that go a little longer.  I know we have students here and I want to hear from them.  
If you have written testimony, I would love to be able to take it so we can include it in the 
record.  I want to hear about your experience and why you think this would be beneficial for 
Nevada.  State your name for the record, and Ms. Richard will let you know when you have 
one minute left.  
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Joey Parrish, Student Government President, Nova Southeastern University: 
I am a student in the Tampa anesthesiologist assistant program, and I am also a native 
Nevadan, born and raised in Las Vegas.  For those of you who were here last session, 
you may remember that I had just graduated from UNR with a bachelor's degree in 
neuroscience.  I gave testimony as an incoming student into the anesthesiologist assistant 
program at Nova Southeastern University. 
 
At that time, I honestly had no idea what I was getting into.  I had experience in the operating 
room due to my previous job as a tissue recovery specialist at Renown, but I did not get 
much experience in terms of anesthesia—which we were talking about earlier—besides my 
shadowing hours that I needed to get into the program.  The one thought that I had going into 
this program was would I be able to become proficient enough in delivering an anesthetic to 
a patient safely.  After going through two years of this program alongside 30 other classmates 
fueled by the same passion to help others, I am here today to tell you that this schooling 
absolutely prepared me to become a competent anesthesia provider. 
 
Over 107 credits worth of didactics and lab training had me more than prepared for my 
first day at clinicals.  Over the last eight months, I have received almost 2,000 hours of 
clinical experience—which equates to about 500 cases—and I still have four months to go.  
These 500 procedures were not just a bunch of simple, run-of-the-mill cases either; I have 
constantly challenged myself and been challenged and have been put on the most difficult of 
cases.  I have done the anesthetics for cases such as kidney and liver transplants, brain 
surgeries, trauma, and several open-heart surgeries. 
 
The written testimony I provided is a story that I wrote and posted on an organ donation's 
social media page (Exhibit L).  The first picture on the left is me as a little boy, right after 
a team of surgeons saved my life.  In the picture on the right, 17 years later, I am standing 
with the transplant surgeon at Cleveland Clinic after just administering the anesthetic for the 
liver transplant that he performed.  The surgeon that I am standing next to was trained by 
the same surgeons that performed my liver transplant at the University of California, 
Los Angeles, 17 years ago.  When I was here at the Legislature two years ago, I stated that 
I wanted to go into anesthesia to work alongside heroes like this surgeon, and the ones who 
saved my life.  Today I am able to do that because of this profession. 
 
As an anesthesiologist assistant, I am not here to take the job of an anesthesiologist; we are 
here to work safely together as an anesthesia care team, just as physician assistants and 
surgeons work together.  I do not know about you, but when something does go wrong in the 
operating room, I would rather have two sets of hands and two minds to work on a problem 
rather than just one.  When I graduate on August 18, 2017, I know for a fact that I will be 
more than prepared to administer safe anesthetics, and I hope that the time will come that 
I do that in the great state of Nevada that I call home.  
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Angely Jimenez, Student, Nova Southeastern University: 
I am a student anesthesiologist assistant finishing up my first year at Nova Southeastern 
University.  My parents are both chemical engineers, originally from Venezuela, who worked 
in the oil industry.  Because of their jobs, I have had the opportunity to live and travel 
around the world from Texas, to Indonesia, to Brazil, to Nevada.  Although I was not born 
and raised in this state, I moved to Henderson, Nevada, and graduated from Coronado High 
School in 2012.  In the short time that I lived in Henderson, I have come to call it home.  
Despite the many other places that I have previously lived, no place means more to me or my 
future career than the state of Nevada.  In fact, my parents chose to retire here, and as 
I approach my senior year and look at options of where I can work, being able to work close 
to my family is extremely important to me. 
 
I was originally going to attend UNR; however, through the Clark County Public Education 
Foundation—a scholarship program specifically for the Clark County district schools—and 
other academic scholarships I received, I was able to attend school out of state to pursue my 
career.  I graduated from the University of Florida, cum laude, with a bachelor's of science in 
biology.  I am now pursuing a career to become an anesthesiologist assistant. 
 
This program is unlike anything I could have ever imagined.  The past 12 months have been 
the most rigorous and trying of my entire academic career.  So far, I have been trained 
through over 20 credit hours per semester in challenging, didactic courses, and I have spent 
countless hours in a state-of-the-art anesthesia simulation lab. 
 
Four months ago, I stepped into the operating room at my first clinical rotation site.  
Although I felt nervous knowing I was going to work on a real patient for the first time, 
by the end of that first day, I could clearly see how well my program prepared me.  
Now, four months later, my confidence and proficiency in anesthesia has exponentially 
improved.  I look forward to expanding these skills as I approach my full-time, senior clinical 
year. 
 
I would not be where I am today without the people who have helped me and believed in my 
success.  I owe this state my education, because without living here, I would not have had the 
chance to further my education and receive my undergraduate degree completely debt-free.  
As a female of Hispanic heritage, I am no stranger to adversity.  I find value and take 
full advantage of the opportunities thrown my way.  I truly believe that Nevada has the 
potential to offer many certified anesthesiologist assistants the opportunity to expand their 
profession, to create new jobs for the economy, and to allow those who had to leave the state 
in order to pursue this career to come back home.  I hope that one day this will be true for me 
as well, and I can come back to the state that has given me so much and provide quality and 
safe anesthetic care to the patients of Nevada.  
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Sidney Sanford, Student, Nova Southeastern University: 
I was born at Sunrise Hospital in Las Vegas, and I am a native Nevadan.  I just finished my 
rotation at Renown Medical Center in Reno.  As you can imagine, I would love to come 
home and work here when I have completed my training.  I have a dad, step-mom, brothers 
and sisters, aunts and uncles, cousins, the whole nine yards in Nevada, and I miss them.  
They are in Las Vegas. 
 
I know this bill may be new for some of you, maybe even a little scary for others, but I am 
here to tell you that we go through a 27-month, rigorous program, and it is not easy.  As you 
have heard from other people's testimonies, we have to take all of the same premedical 
prerequisites that medical students have to take.  We have to take the Graduate Record 
Examination or the Medical College Admission Test, which is the same exam medical 
students have to take to get into medical school.  If you are accepted, you basically have to 
give up everyone that you know and love for those two years of your life.  It is not for 
everybody and, certainly, not everyone makes it through the program. 
 
I got into anesthesia because I want to make a difference in the world and in my 
community.  I am graduating in three-and-a-half months and, although I have job offers in 
other states, they are not mine.  Nevada is my home and nothing would mean more to me 
than to have my home support my profession and, therefore, support my family.  In return, 
I promise to support and care for every patient that walks into my operating room. 
 
I am not asking for all of you to put your necks on the line for us.  We are not an experiment.  
Our profession has been passed and implemented in 17 other parts of our country and several 
other countries, including Australia and the United Kingdom.  We are not dangerous; we are 
just a minority.  The other mid-level anesthesia providers, nurse anesthetists, outnumber 
us 30:1.  All we want is the same right they were given to work in the state of Nevada.  
I know each and every one of you represent the people of Nevada, and you are looking out 
for their best interests, but we are the people of Nevada, and we look out for them too.  
I guess what we are asking is that you look at the facts pertaining to our profession and our 
track history, and make a decision based on that.  Every profession has to start somewhere, 
so I am hoping that in Nevada, our profession will start with each one of you. 
 
Michael Alonso, representing Renown Health: 
We are in support of S.B 210 (R1).  I will keep this very short.  For all of the reasons that the 
proponents stated—the access to health care, the efficiency, potential cost savings—we are in 
support of this bill. 
 
George A. Ross, representing HCA Sunrise Health Care: 
With the expansion of Medicaid, Sunrise Hospital's inpatient population grew from 
510 people a night to a range of 650 to 700 a night.  The vast majority of that increase is 
Medicaid.  They are also, as a group, the highest acuity patients the hospital faces, given their 
total lack of treatment over the prior parts of their lives.  We have a great need for additional 
anesthesiologists, and we believe S.B. 210 (R1) will help us meet that need. 
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Mendy Elliott, representing Nevada Osteopathic Medical Association: 
I am here on behalf of Nevada Osteopathic Medical Association in support of S.B. 210 (R1).  
It is the association's desire that if this bill is passed and the expansion of anesthesiologist 
assistant practitioners is implemented, there will be consideration for our doctors of 
osteopathic medicine who have specialized in anesthesiology the opportunity to have access 
to anesthesiologists assistants under NRS Chapter 633 at a future date. 
 
Catherine M. O'Mara, Executive Director, Nevada State Medical Association: 
We are here in support of S.B. 210 (R1).  The physician community took its time evaluating 
this bill.  We spent much of the interim looking at this, making sure the safety protections 
were in place; and making sure patients would be protected, making sure this would not 
displace CRNAs and other nurse anesthetists, because many of our physicians and surgeons 
love to work with them. 
 
Ultimately, we polled all of our anesthesiologists, the overwhelming majority of whom very 
much support this bill.  When we really sat down to discuss it and vote on it over the course 
of six months, what really turned our attention was knowing that the safety protections were 
in place, but then knowing that this would actually help my surgeons who like to take 
Medicaid patients be able to put together their teams. 
 
I know Assemblywoman Jauregui asked the question about access, and if it is blind, then 
why is there an access issue?  The issue is that not all anesthesia groups take Medicaid, or if 
they do take Medicaid, they will not take evening or weekend calls.  If I have a pediatric 
gastroenterologist in Las Vegas who really wants to take a Medicaid case, it may take him 
two or three weeks longer to be able to put together that anesthesia care team so he can do 
the surgery.  The same thing applies to obstetrics and gynecology under Medicaid.  We think 
S.B. 210 (R1) will improve access.  We believe it will supplement, not supplant.  We do not 
want to support one group to the competition of the other.  As I said, I have surgeons who 
love to work with their nurse anesthetists, and we think that will continue because the 
numbers show that those individuals are not being displaced. 
 
Ultimately, when we look at policy, we ask if it is good for the physician community, and the 
answer is yes.  Is this good for the patients of Nevada?  In this case, we believe the answer 
is yes.  Not 100 percent of the physicians in Nevada will be up here in support of this bill, 
but the Nevada State Medical Association is.  We took our time and evaluated this, and tried 
to be as selfless as possible and decided that ultimately, this is good policy for Nevada. 
 
Jesse Wadhams, representing MEDNAX; and Nevada Hospital Association: 
I am with the law firm of Fennemore Craig, here today representing MEDNAX, a national 
provider group with over 3,400 anesthesia practitioners, as well as the Nevada Hospital 
Association, representing the 57 acute care hospitals in Nevada.  You have heard a lot of 
testimony, and we agree with what the proponents are doing.  We stand in support. 
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Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Is there anyone else in support here in Carson City?  [There was no one.]  We will go to 
Las Vegas for additional testimony in support of S.B. 210 (R1). 
 
Dean Polce, representing U.S. Anesthesia Partners, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am an anesthesiologist in Las Vegas, Nevada, and a shareholder in Las Vegas-based 
U.S. Anesthesia Partners.  My comments today are directed at what is more local in 
Las Vegas and to dispel some of the things that have been said previously. 
 
Our group, U.S. Anesthesia Partners, is the largest single anesthesia practice in the country 
with about 3,000 providers.  We are heavily involved in data-capture and reporting.  I would 
like to respond to the comments made previously about how safe our AAs and care-team 
models are.  It has been hammered home already, and there really is no data to suggest that 
one is inferior to the other.  However, in the pay-for-performance world that we live in, 
there are databases that collect quality data and, therefore, pay one group more, 
via Medicare—by taking money from the lower quality groups—and paying for them.  
We joined U.S. Anesthesia Partners because they have the highest quality of any anesthesia 
group out there, reporting to the Anesthesia Quality Institute, which directly reports to CMS.  
Therefore, I will say on the record that there are anesthesiologists in Las Vegas who are 
going to be paying for the raises in Medicare for anesthesia groups in other states that use 
anesthesiologist assistants.  That is the ultimate "Put your money where your mouth is."  
We utilize all of our resources down to the best we can. 
 
Robert Erickson is here today; he is one of our nurse anesthetists.  He is here as a direct 
result of the access to care issue that we have, specifically at Sunrise Hospital.  He takes care 
of----- with the other nurse anesthetists, and myself and partners—a patient population that 
is 83 percent Medicare, Medicaid, and uninsured.  Do we have an access to care issue in 
Nevada?  For patients with commercial insurance who present between 7 a.m. and 3 p.m., 
usually during the week, absolutely not.  Do we have an access to care issue for patients who 
have no insurance, Medicare, Medicaid?  Absolutely. 
 
The four difficult-to-recruit things in anesthesia are pediatrics, obstetrics and gynecology, 
trauma, and cardiac.  All of those practices have several things in common.  They are very 
demanding.  They are off-hours, and the pay is terrible.  Here is a real example.  We can now 
do palliative surgery on neonates—children who are born with one ventricle versus two.  
They used to be—when they were born in my age—left to die, but now they can make it.  
A nine-hour procedure on a two-day-old under Medicaid pays about $800.  You can do 
two commercial colonoscopies and get more money collected in less than an hour and a half.  
From a business perspective, which business would you want?  I get the economics of it, 
but what is important to the hospitals is very much different from the anesthesiologist.  
We have a major payment discrepancy.  This bill is not going to fix it.  There is really no law 
that the Legislature can pass to fix it.  There are access issues.  To say that we have anywhere 
near the number of providers that other states have is not supported by the evidence at all.  
We need more providers in Nevada.  I support S.B. 210 (R1).  [Written testimony was also 
submitted (Exhibit M).]  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975M.pdf
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Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Seeing no one else in support, I will open testimony in opposition to S.B. 210 (R1).  Is there 
anyone in Las Vegas who is in opposition? 
 
Joanne Heins, Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist, Henderson, Nevada: 
I have been a nurse for 36 years and an anesthetist for 26 years.  I have worked in a variety 
of critical-care settings.  I have worked in rural settings, in anesthesia care teams in 
city hospitals and in military hospitals.  I am testifying against S.B. 210 (R1). 
 
In March 2016, I was part of the group of over 15 CRNAs who were fired and replaced with 
physicians.  There was no problem there.  They did not miss any scheduled cases, but there is 
no anesthesia provider issue.  I have lived in Nevada for 14 years and, currently, I am happily 
employed—but I have been underemployed off and on over the years.  I know CRNAs 
licensed in Nevada who practice out of the state.  Certified registered nurse anesthetists will 
move here from out of state if they are offered reasonable compensation and work settings.  
There is no need for another type of anesthesia provider. 
 
Certified registered nurse anesthetists have provided anesthesia for 150 years.  They improve 
access to care.  They are often the only anesthesia providers in rural settings.  We have 
a proven safety track record.  Anesthesiologist assistants are not needed in the state of 
Nevada.  There are so many different avenues—if you want to get heath care in the state 
of Nevada—we do not need AAs.  Please stop S.B. 210 (R1) in Committee. 
 
Robert A. Erickson, Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am against S.B. 210 (R1).  There is no current shortage of CRNAs or physician 
anesthesiologists in our state.  Both providers have excellent safety records, as well as 
providing our citizens with high-quality anesthesia care.  In our state, CRNAs work with 
surgeons, pediatricians, and dentists.  Both CRNAs and physician anesthesiologists can work 
independent of each other or in collaboration, such as in an anesthesia care team in which 
I currently work here in Las Vegas. 
 
Although CRNAs and AAs can both practice in an anesthesia care-team model, there are 
distinct differences.  A CRNA is a highly skilled and educated individual with critical-care 
and intensive-care nursing background.  This is required prior to admission to a nurse 
anesthesia school.  An anesthesiologist assistant's education is a bachelor's degree with no 
prior health care requirement prior to his or her anesthesia training, which focuses on 
assisting the anesthesiologist.   The American Academy of Physician Assistants is opposed to 
states characterizing AAs as a kind of physician assistant.  This is totally contradictory to the 
previous statements we heard today. 
 
While the CRNAs are the primary providers in rural Nevada, they have a notable presence in 
the Las Vegas region.  One of the main proponents of this bill has testified in Committees 
past that the bill was never intended to increase anesthesia access to our rural areas.   
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Advocates for this bill claim there are no CRNAs to work in Reno, but I have personal 
knowledge of CRNAs who live in the area but work out of state due to the lack of 
employment opportunities.  These are very interesting and quite conflicting reports. 
 
Certified registered nurse anesthetists are educated to work in diverse settings, including 
overseas military operations, trauma, obstetrics, pediatrics, and major cardiovascular cases.  
However, due to legal, educational, and care-team model restrictions, AAs must always work 
under the direct supervision of an anesthesiologist.  Because CRNAs are educated to work in 
those specialties does not necessarily mean certain employers will allow them to do so, thus 
possibly creating a false sense of shortage of certain providers for certain types of cases. 
 
If an anesthesiologist cannot be immediately available for an AA, such as when 
two emergencies arise, fraud could possibly occur.  I would not want to be a patient under 
anesthesia and not have resources available to me in an emergency.  There is no cost savings 
that Nevada citizens could potentially receive from an AA.  To my knowledge, there is no 
credible research indicating safety or efficacy for the advocacy of AAs either.  Sometimes, 
nurse anesthetists are incorrectly referred to as anesthesia nurses.  This is perceived as an 
attempt to discredit CRNAs broad knowledge base and extensive training, analogous to the 
term "just a nurse," which is equally insulting.  Multiple professional organizations and 
individuals alike are against this unsafe bill, including the Nevada Association of Nurse 
Anesthetists and various anesthesiologists in both private practice and small groups. 
 
In part of the original bill language, the Nevada State Board of Osteopathic Medicine has 
been removed by bill amendment and has a neutral stance on this topic.  Again, I am against, 
S.B 210 (R1).  [Written testimony was also submitted (Exhibit N).] 
 
Christopher J. Phillips, Anesthesiologist, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am a board-certified anesthesiologist who has practiced in Clark County for 22 years.  
In that time, I have seen the quality of medical care increase dramatically in Clark County.  
I am strongly opposed to S.B 210 (R1).  It reduces the quality of care in one of the most 
critical aspects of patient care; that is surgery.  The most vulnerable Nevada patients, those 
on Medicare and Medicaid, will be preferentially taken care of by AAs because the AAs will 
be providing care in the inner-city hospitals and the higher acute settings.  Anesthesiologist 
assistants have two years of post-graduate training; anesthesiologists have eight-plus years of 
post-graduate training. 
 
Contrary to what has been stated about the safety of AAs, any time there is physician 
anesthesiologist supervision in surgery, the number of malpractice cases goes up.  This was 
clearly demonstrated in an anesthesia closed claim review in Detroit, Michigan, in 2014.  
That involved 67,000 patients over a five-year period.  It looked at hospitals in the 
Detroit area, both in suburbs as well as the inner cities.  The incidence of claims was highest 
for malpractice for anoxic brain injury and death, and those malpractice cases usually 
occurred on Monday and Tuesday, between the hours of six and nine in the morning.  This 
higher malpractice rate may potentially increase malpractice premiums for physician 
anesthesiologists, which may drive quality doctors out of Nevada.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975N.pdf
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High medical premiums for Nevadans have been in the news lately.  With S.B. 210 (R1), 
there is no cost savings involved with this bill for Nevada patients.  In fact, insurance 
premiums will stay the same or go up, but the quality of care will go down. 
 
There has also been a mention by Dr. Matsumura and others about physician shortages in 
Nevada.  The University of Nevada, Reno, just came out with their study, "Health Workforce 
Supply in Nevada for 2017."  He is correct; there is a physician shortage in Nevada for 
general practice doctors and, in fact, Nevada ranks forty-seventh for all the states.  However, 
for anesthesiologists, we rank twenty-third out of all the states with 14.5 providers 
per 100,000 patient population.  In fact, anesthesiology was the highest-ranked physician 
specialty by numbers in the state of Nevada, so there is no shortage of anesthesiologists in 
the state of Nevada.  We are at the national average.  In fact, Merritt Hawkins—a national 
physician staffing company—states that there should be 8 physician anesthesiologists 
per 100,000—we have almost 15.  In addition, AAs do not address anesthesia care in rural 
areas, nor have the rural hospitals asked for AAs for any staffing issues. 
 
The only benefit derived from S.B. 210 (R1) is to the hospitals.  They will be able to hire 
AAs to replace physician anesthesiologists.  This will reduce the quality of care while 
improving their bottom line.  If it were your family member going in for surgery, who do you 
want taking care of them?  The answer is clear. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Thank you, Dr. Phillips.  We are going to come back to Carson City for additional testimony 
in opposition to S.B. 210 (R1). 
 
William C. Horne, representing Nevada Association of Nurse Anesthetists; and Patient 

Advocates United for Safety and Excellence: 
I am here to testify in opposition to S.B. 210 (R1).  First, it is important to note that the 
reason this is the third consecutive session this proposal is being brought forward is because 
it has failed the last two sessions.  The reason for its failure is that it is just bad policy.  It was 
amended in the Senate and that, remarkably I believe, made the bill even worse as it is before 
you today.  This legislation would have you believe that one person, a physician 
anesthesiologist, can be in several places at once, by allowing that anesthesiologist to 
supervise up to four AAs. 
 
I think it is also important to note that starting at section 38, the whole deleted section is in 
NRS Chapter 633, which deals with doctors of osteopathy (DOs).  I will retract this if I am 
incorrect, but while the bill was in the Senate, that board elected not to support S.B. 210.  
Therefore, before it went to work session, this amendment was proposed and you will note 
that is has been deleted.  Now, the bill basically says anesthesiologists who are MDs can 
use AAs, but not DOs.  However, I believe their lobbyists came forward today and said they 
now support this bill, even though they are carved out of it, in the hopes they can be included 
at some other time in the future. 
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I think this fact undoes the argument that was made by some in the Senate, that this bill is 
simply to allow doctors to choose to use AAs—which I think is the wrong question to ask in 
the first place.  They were saying this bill is not a mandate.  Studies have yet to prove or 
disprove patient safety under the AA model because studies simply cannot disaggregate the 
doctor from the AA.  The standard that proponents today should be held to in this policy 
discussion is not that they show that you cannot show a study that they are unsafe.  I think the 
standard should be that they have to come and say this is safe, and they have data to show 
that it is.  They have not done that; they can only state that there is no data to show that they 
are unsafe. 
 
The education requirements are another significant set of problems.  The U.S. Department of 
Education's database of accredited, post-secondary institutions and programs does not 
include the Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health Education—the only certifying 
body of anesthesiologist assistant programs.  That is in section 8 of the bill.  There are 
anesthesiologists and nurse anesthetists present today to describe to you the responsibility the 
profession has to patients, describe the harms that this bill presents, and answer technical 
questions. 
 
However, I would like to finish with this:  for your loved ones—your wife, or children, 
or grandchildren—the number one job of an anesthesiologist is to keep them alive 
during a surgical procedure.  Do you want a CRNA or an anesthesiologist, or do you want an 
AA doing that?  Also, I would like to point out that 17 states have utilized this since 
the 1960s.  In my lifetime, only 17 states have adopted this.  That means 33 states have 
chosen not to use AAs and, in fact, Louisiana actually passed legislation prohibiting it. 
 
With that, I would like to pass the microphone to the other experts that are up here.  I would 
be happy to answer any questions if there are any for me. 
 
Annette Teijeiro, Anesthesiologist, Henderson, Nevada: 
My family has lived in Nevada for over 41 years.  I am a graduate of the University of 
Nevada, Las Vegas (UNLV) with a bachelor's degree.  I attended the University of Nevada, 
Reno School of Medicine, and then I returned as an anesthesiologist and have had a medical 
license in this state since 1993. 
 
As I stated, I am an anesthesiologist.  I come in opposition of S.B. 210 (R1) because it is not 
in the best interest of Nevadans, especially our most vulnerable Nevadans.  As I listened to 
the testimony from the proponents, a lot has been said.  This is very simple.  You cannot 
learn the intricacies of anesthesia critical care in two years.  It is physically impossible for the 
mind and the body to have done enough anesthetics to be prepared for everything. 
 
No human being can be in four places at the same time.  It is really hard to be in two places 
at the same time.  I have three children, and once you get to that third one, you realize that 
you do not have enough hands. 
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Anesthesia is a critical-care specialty.  A lot of what has been said has compared 
anesthesiologist assistants to physician assistants.  Please understand that we are 
a critical-care specialty.  Things happen within seconds—not minutes, not days.  I want you 
to close your eyes and contemplate this:  how many of you have heard of a cardiac surgeon 
allowing four physician assistants to do simultaneous bypass surgeries while they are 
somewhere else in the hospital?  There were so many discrepancies inside of the proponents' 
testimony, but the glaring concern is that there are also portions of this bill that state if there 
is a declared state of emergency, an anesthesiologist assistant will practice unsupervised.  
That is without supervision—without any anesthesiologist. 
 
A majority of the anesthesiologists in the state of Nevada are against this bill.  I know you 
have heard from some who say that they speak for a 100-member group or a 60-member 
group, but even in those anesthesia groups there are people—who have voiced to patients 
when they found out about this bill—who say they are not in support.  I caution you to take 
those airbrushed statements with a grain of salt. 
 
Furthermore, this legislative body has opened the opportunity for having a UNLV medical 
school, with the idea that we would increase the number of doctors in Nevada.  In licensing 
AAs, understand that you will be closing the doors to any anesthesiologist, such as me, 
coming back and being able to practice here.  If there are 16 operating rooms, you license 
AAs, and four anesthesiologists hire them.  Where did the 12 anesthesiologists who used to 
be in those operating rooms go?  Anyone who says there is no displacement is really pulling 
the wool over their eyes. 
 
One bottom line is that Nevadans deserve to keep their higher level of care.  We should be 
very proud—and I am very proud as an anesthesiologist practicing here—that if you 
compare us to anywhere, we have two to four times the per capita ratio for Nevadans of 
anesthesiologists to patient ratios.  This is in comparison with states that have AAs.  We have 
heard a lot about shortages, a lot about being at the bottom of education, the bottom of this, 
and the bottom of that, but this is one of those things we shine on.  I would ask the members 
of this Committee to keep us shining in that direction. 
 
I am here for questions.  There are statistics from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 
U.S. Department of Labor, that you can pull up yourselves that show we actually have 
440 full-time-equivalent anesthesiologists and about 80 nurse anesthetists.  I know several 
nurse anesthetists who are underemployed and would be glad to work, even here in Reno. 
 
Chad Brown, Chief Operating Officer, Omnific Breast LLC, Reno, Nevada: 
I am not used to sitting before a Committee like this; it is very humbling and exciting, 
so thank you very much for this opportunity.  I have heard a lot of testimony from some 
brilliant and talented people on both sides of this issue and it seems to me, the real meat of 
this can get very confusing.  
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As I began to learn about this bill, I found one question that sorted through all the "BS" for 
me personally, and was very instructive.  I began asking—and since then I have asked 
over 150 medical professionals and private citizens—a single question, "If you have the 
choice between having an anesthesiologist provide your anesthesia or an anesthesia assistant, 
which would you prefer?"  The answer is always exactly the same, whether it is a surgeon 
conducting an operation in his or her operating room, they would prefer the MD.  I would 
prefer the MD for my family.    
 
I have a very close, personal friend who almost died during surgery, and as you have heard, 
the problem was with anesthesia and not the surgery itself.  My grandmother actually died 
two times on the operating table, related to anesthesia, and if not for the fast-acting, 
highly skilled MD, I think we would have lost both of those people. 
 
This bill seems so obviously good for a very small handful of people, particularly those in 
groups.  As they have said over and over, they use words like "access of care," but then that 
is usually followed up with Medicaid.  What I see is that we are developing a two-tiered 
system:  one of higher care and lower care for those who cannot afford it or do not 
necessarily know the difference. 
 
As a former management consultant, the obvious answer to me—and it is a fantastic and 
brilliant business move by the groups that want to promote it—is the general population of 
Nevada will lose out.  Just from quick, back-of-the-envelope calculations, this bill would 
make anesthesia groups approximately $1 million extra per year for every four AAs hired.  
I would have to ask, what does a patient get in return?  They get a lower quality of care, 
and nobody is arguing that. 
 
There is also a lot of talk about comparing AAs to CRNAs, but at the same time, when asked 
how many CRNAs the group employs in Washoe County, they employ zero.  Again, the AAs 
will simply displace MDs, not CRNAs. 
 
Assemblywoman Neal: 
My question is on the statement about Louisiana.  Someone said Louisiana banned AAs.  
In what year was that?  I was looking it up, and it looked like the last time they dealt with this 
issue was in 2004. 
 
William Horne: 
I would have to get back with you on that.  I do not have that paper with me, but I do have it 
in my office.  I can get back to you really quickly, but I am not positive on the year. 
 
Jaswinder Samra, Anesthesiologist, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am an anesthesiologist in the Las Vegas area.  I have practiced here for almost 20 years 
now.  I have been Chief of Sunrise Hospital, and I am currently the medical director at 
Durango Outpatient Surgery Center.  I support all of the arguments against S.B. 210 (R1) that 
have already been made, and I just want to emphasize a few other items. 
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First, if you dig into the statistics, there is no shortage of providers here.  I am an 
MD anesthesiologist, and I probably consider myself underemployed.  Then you ask me why 
I do not get more work; well, those contracts where these large groups are saying that they 
are having coverage issues are their contracts; I cannot really go in and work in those areas. 
 
Again, we should be here improving the quality of health care provided to the people of 
Nevada. There is no real evidence to suggest that AAs would do that.  If we look at the total 
number of providers in the U.S. that provide anesthesia care, there are about 100,000.  It is 
split evenly 50 percent MD or DO, and 50 percent CRNAs.  About 2 percent of that, 
or 2,000, are anesthesia assistants.  Really, to pull data out of that—meaningful data—is very 
difficult to ask any statistician to say that they are providing better care or worse care.  There 
are a few studies that probably suggest that there is inferior care.  There is the one that 
has already been cited where there was an increase in malpractice cases involving 
supervision of AAs.  Recently published in Anesthesiology: The Journal of the American 
Society of Anesthesiologists, Inc. was a study looking at supervision of first-case starts, 
which is where everything happens in the morning, and there are many cases being started 
simultaneously.  At that point, just looking at where a physician is supervising two rooms, 
what they saw was that in a third—30 percent—of cases there was inadequate supervision for 
critical portions of just the first case.  There is more data, which kind of supports that there is 
inadequate supervision as the day continues, looking at lunch breaks, et cetera.  Those are 
two studies that show that we may be providing inferior care through the supervision model. 
 
Also, the DO Board did not endorse this bill.  I was at that meeting.  They actually cited 
serious patient safety concerns and were concerned that the Allopathic Board had endorsed 
this bill. 
 
Also for the record, the VA may be allowed to employ anesthesia assistants, but they 
do not.  In addition, in earlier testimony it was cited that the National Health Service—in the 
United Kingdom, where I have practiced—uses an anesthesia assistant model.  That is 
incorrect.  They use operating department assistants, which are kind of trained to the same 
level as anesthesia assistants, but they are never allowed to provide direct patient care in any 
setting.  They are literally an assistant.  Always they are drawing up drugs and doing minimal 
technical tasks, but never involved in direct patient care.  That is really my argument against 
S.B. 210 (R1).  I strongly oppose it, and this is not going to enhance patient safety or improve 
patient care for the patients in Nevada. 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
Dr. Samra, can you provide us, or just point me in the right direction, and I could have 
someone look up what you had said about the United Kingdom?  I would like to find 
a document on that if I could. 
 
Jaswinder Samra: 
I will search that for you and forward it to your email. 
 



Assembly Committee on Commerce and Labor 
May 1, 2017 
Page 53 
 
Assemblywoman Carlton: 
Thank you.  Either send it to me or the Committee Chair, and we will make sure the rest of 
the staff has it.  I just want to become more familiar with it. 
 
Denise Mrez, Private Citizen, Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I am neither a doctor nor anybody really special; I am just a potential patient.  I would be for 
this bill, because according to the testimony for it, it would expand care.  Since this could 
potentially kill people, I am against it, and I will tell you why. 
 
I also want to thank Assemblywomen Carlton and Neal for all of your support and excellent 
questions; we need more people like you in our Legislature. 
 
As far as Dr. Matsumura goes, if he needs somebody to help him and they have to be an AA, 
then why does he not just get one and have them help him on the side?  Nobody is telling him 
that he cannot have an extra assistant, assisting him with the tasks that he does not want 
to do.  There is no bill that says that he cannot do that.  As far as people consenting to 
this, let us figure out where the world is going, in that 25 percent of our children today 
have autism.  If you tell a 20-year-old who is going into surgery to sign a consensual 
waiver, and he has autism—which used to be called other things but today it is called 
autism—does he really have the capacity to understand what he is signing?  It is most likely 
that he does not. 
 
I have a dog and the anesthetist doctor in the dog's surgery never left.  Ten years ago at the 
Ohio State University Veterinary School, my horse was being operated on.  They did not 
send in some assistant.  They had a doctor, and the doctor was there the entire time with his 
team and the other students learning.  He did not hand it off because it was a horse, to say 
that it was okay that he had to go take a lunch break.  He stayed there the entire time, 
and I watched the whole surgery. 
 
As for myself, when my daughter was being born there were complications.  Three days prior 
to her actual birth, I was in the hospital.  They had a doctor come in to do a nerve block.  
It was 11 at night, in one of these "gap times" that these other doctors have talked about.  
He did the epidural too high, which caused me to completely lose my ability to breathe, 
and I blacked out.  Had that been an anesthesiologist assistant, I would have died, and my 
daughter would have died.  Here is why:  AAs cannot perform life-saving procedures on 
patients, only doctors can do that.  If that AA had been under the consultation of an 
obstetrician-gynecologist who was maybe down the hall in the middle of another birth or 
a situation in the maternity wing, I would have died.  It is very simple.  I really do not even 
know why this bill has gotten this far.  It is pretty clear, even to somebody as simplistic as 
I am, with just a master's degree, not in health, how dangerous it can be. 
 
As far as the AAs who testified, I consider the middle one—the girl with the long, dark 
hair—to be an "absolute snowflake."  To use half of her testimony on her world travels . . . . 
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Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Ma'am, I am sorry.  That was inappropriate. 
 
Denise Mrez: 
It is true. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Ma'am, I am going to have to stop your testimony because you need to respect that other 
people have different opinions.  Calling people out like that is inappropriate.  I am going to 
go ahead and stop your testimony.  Thank you for participating in the process.  Can you spell 
your last name to make sure we got it right? 
 
Denise Mrez: 
Why does that even matter?  No one else had to spell their name. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
We do not have you listed on the sign in sheet, and I just want to make sure that we include 
your testimony in the record, out of respect. 
 
Denise Mrez: 
It is M-R-E-Z.  I will go sign it. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Thank you so much.  I appreciate that.  I will take testimony from the last person in 
Las Vegas. 
 
Julie Cavin, representing Patient Advocates United for Safety and Excellence: 
First, I would like to address some of the things that were brought up.  One of the things is, 
currently—at least last year's statistics—we have 12 anesthesiologists per 100,000 for the 
state of Nevada, while the national average is 8 anesthesiologists per 100,000 people.  We are 
a unique state in the fact that we have 2.8 million people in the state, and approximately 
one-third of that population is below Mount Charleston and down.  About 500,000 are 
retirees, which means we are going to have many more surgeries happening from knee 
replacements to heart surgery, to critical care, to our trauma centers. 
 
In that, we want to excel, and I think we are all dedicated to making Nevada a better place.  
One of the places we do excel is in anesthesiology.  Why do we want to drop our standard of 
care?  Why do we want to go backwards?  We all want to go forward.  There is a huge 
difference between a CRNA and an AA, and the education behind it. 
 
In addition, when you think of going to a doctor and you call in to make an appointment, 
the receptionist asks if you want the physician assistant or the doctor.  What happens if I go 
in for surgery that morning, and they come in for my paperwork and say they are going to 
give me an anesthesiologist assistant?  In my case, I would say no, that I want an MD.  These 
are things to consider.  
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Let us keep Nevada at the best place we can.  This is a place where we excel, as one of the 
other doctors said.  We are twenty-third in the nation, which is pretty phenomenal.  Out of 
50-something states in the nation we are number 23.  So let us keep that. 
 
As a patient, I suffer from a rare autoimmune disease.  Just last Tuesday, I was in the 
operating room and had to have surgery.  I have had to have surgery twice under general 
anesthesia in the last six months, and 22 times in my lifetime.  Two of those times were 
before I moved here in 2004 at Emory University in Atlanta, Georgia.  One of those times, 
I was with an anesthesiologist assistant, and I woke up.  It is very scary when you wake up.  
As a patient, I would rather have an MD, and I think the rest of Nevada would too.  Let us 
keep Nevada positive and let us keep that standard of care better.  We do not want our 
standard of care for our patients to go down, and we do not want our standard of care for 
our retirees going down.  We want to stay and excel. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
Is there anyone else who wants to testify in opposition?  Did you already testify? 
 
Robert Erickson: 
May I address a question that Assemblywoman Neal had earlier regarding the Louisiana law? 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
No.  Actually, she is not here so I am going to ask you to go directly to her.  She had to 
step out and present a bill in another Committee.  Thank you, however. 
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
I will now open the hearing for testimony in the neutral position.  Is there anyone who is 
neutral and would like to testify?  [There was no one.]  Senator Kieckhefer, would you like to 
make any closing remarks? 
 
Senator Kieckhefer: 
I appreciate your patience this afternoon.  I want to reflect back on a couple of points.  On the 
issue of the DOs, DOs were originally in the bill at the request of the licensing board.  They 
were removed—I believe the testimony from Ms. Elliott earlier was not representing that 
Board, but representing the Association.  I wanted to make sure that that was clear for the 
record. 
 
The bill is structured to do a couple of key things, which I think it does.  It expands the 
health care workforce in our state.  It will offer, upon completion, the opportunity for 
new health care training programs in Nevada, which we do need. 
 
The bill is silent on CRNAs; it does not discuss them.  In no way does it disparage the quality 
of their practice or the quality of their work, and I would never do so.  What it does is 
provide options for anesthesiologists in how they structure their practice and the way that  
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they feel, they can be most efficient, effective and safe for their patients.  At hospitals across 
this country, some of the most well regarded in the nation use AAs, so the insinuation that it 
is going to be a directly diffused level of care, I think needs to be questioned intensely. 
 
It gets down, often times, to the question of, "Who do I want providing this care for me?"  
In a situation where you are going to be with an anesthesiologist who is utilizing AAs, you 
will have an anesthesiologist directing your care.  It is guaranteed under this bill that it is 
a physician specifically trained in anesthesiology who will be medically supervising your 
care.  With that, I would defer to that individual on putting me under, any day.  Thank you. 
 
[Additional exhibits were submitted but not heard, including a fact sheet regarding 
anesthesiologist assistants (Exhibit O), a map of anesthesiologist assistance practice in the 
United States (Exhibit P), and a map of anesthesiologist assistant work states (Exhibit Q) and 
will be included in the Committee record.]  
 
Chair Bustamante Adams: 
With that, I will close the hearing on S.B. 210 (R1).  Is there anyone who would like to make 
public comment in Carson City?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone in Las Vegas who 
would like to make a public comment?  [There was no one.]  This meeting is adjourned 
[at 4:42 p.m.]. 
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EXHIBITS 
 

Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. 
 
Exhibit C is a letter, dated March 1, 2017, in support of Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint) to the 
Nevada Legislature, authored by Jeffrey Plagenhoef, President, American Society of 
Anesthesiologists, presented by Jerry Matsumura, M.D., Reno, Nevada. 
 
Exhibit D is a document titled "Physician Extender Options," submitted by 
Kayleen Richter, Sierra Strategies, in support of Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), presented 
by Jerry Matsumura, M.D., Reno, Nevada. 
 
Exhibit E is written testimony authored by Jerry Matsumura, M.D., Reno, Nevada, in support 
of Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint). 
 
Exhibit F is a document titled "Nurse Anesthetists per 100,000 Population Chart," in support 
of Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by Kayleen Richter, Sierra Strategies, presented 
by Jerry Matsumura, M.D., Reno, Nevada. 
 
Exhibit G is a document titled "Certified Anesthesiologist Assistants Comparison: 
AA, CRNA, Training/Practice," regarding Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by 
Kayleen Richter, Sierra Strategies. 
 
Exhibit H is a document titled "Comparison of Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists 
(CRNAs) and Anesthesiologist Assistants (AAs)," submitted by Robert A. Erickson, 
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist, Las Vegas, Nevada, in opposition to 
Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint). 
 
Exhibit I is written testimony in support of Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by 
Robert Wagner, Chair, Health Professions Division, Department of Anesthesia, 
Nova Southeastern University. 
 
Exhibit J is a document titled "Anesthesiologist Assistants Provide Care for Military 
Veterans," in support of Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by Kayleen Richter, 
Sierra Strategies. 
 
Exhibit K is a document titled, "Certified Anesthesiologist Assistants States," in support of 
Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by Kayleen Richter, Sierra Strategies. 
 
Exhibit L is a copy of a social media post, authored and presented by 
Joey Parrish, Student Government President, Nova Southeastern University, regarding 
Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint). 
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975A.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/AttendanceRosterGeneric.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975D.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975E.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975F.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975G.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975H.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975I.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975J.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975K.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975L.pdf
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Exhibit M is a written testimony in support of Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by 
Dean Polce, representing U.S. Anesthesia Partners. 
 
Exhibit N is written testimony in opposition to Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by 
Robert A. Erickson, Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist, Las Vegas, Nevada. 
 
Exhibit O is a document titled "Fact Sheet Regarding Anesthesiologist Assistants (AAs)" 
regarding Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by Robert A. Erickson, 
Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist, Las Vegas, Nevada. 
 
Exhibit P is a map of Anesthesiologist Assistant practice in the United States, regarding 
Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by Robert A. Erickson, Certified Registered 
Nurse Anesthetist, Las Vegas, Nevada. 
 
Exhibit Q is a map of Anesthesiologist Assistant work states, regarding 
Senate Bill 210 (1st Reprint), submitted by Kayleen Richter, Sierra Strategies. 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975M.pdf
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http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975P.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/CL/ACL975Q.pdf

